
South Haven City Hall is barrier free and the City of South Haven will provide the necessary reasonable 
auxiliary aids and services for persons with disabilities, such as signers for the hearing impaired and 
audio tapes of printed materials being considered at the meeting to individuals with disabilities at the 
meeting upon seven (7) days notice to the South Haven City Hall.    

 
 

Planning Commission 
 

 
Regular Meeting Agenda 
Thursday, November 5, 2015 
7:00 p.m., Council Chambers 

City of South Haven 
                                                                      

 
              
1. Call to Order  
 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Agenda  
 
4. Approval of Minutes – October 1, 2015 

 
5. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 
6. New Business – Site Plan Review 

 
Woodham’s Ford of 1111 La Grange Street is asking for site plan approval for 
renovations to their local dealership. This matter went before the ZBA seeking side yard 
and landscaping variances on October 26, 2015. 

 
7. Other Business – Set hearing date for proposed amendments to the first Articles of the 

Zoning Ordinance 
 
8. Commissioner Comments 
 
9. Adjourn 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
Linda Anderson, Zoning Administrator 



 
 

Planning Commission 
 

 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, October 1, 2015 
7:00 p.m., Council Chambers 

City of South Haven 
                                                                      

 
              
1. Call to Order by Paull at 7:00 p.m. 
 
2. Roll Call 
 

Present:  Frost, Heinig, Miles, Peterson, Smith, Stimson, Paull 
Absent:  Wall, Webb  
 
Motion by Heinig, second by Frost to excuse absent members Wall and Webb. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
3. Approval of Agenda  
 

Motion by Smith, second by Heinig to approve the October 1, 2015 regular meeting agenda 
as presented. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
4. Approval of Minutes – September 3, 2015 
 

Motion by Heinig, second by Stimson to approve the September 3, 2015 regular meeting 
minutes as written. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
5. Interested Citizens in the Audience Will be Heard on Items Not on the Agenda 
 

None at this time. 
 
6. New Business – Public Hearing 

 
Reender’s, Inc. requests a public hearing for a Planned Unit Development for the 
property located at 706 Kentucky Avenue, South Haven.  Plans call for construction 
of a 20-unit supportive care building as Phase II of the previously approved River 
Ridge Retirement Community.  The proposed building was included in the original 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 2 of 86



October 1, 2015 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

2 
 

Planned Unit Development approval as future development for the property located 
at 706 Kentucky Avenue, South Haven. 
 
Motion by Miles, second by Stimson to open the public hearing. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
Alex Adler, Progressive Associates on behalf of River Ridge Retirement Center. 
Introduced Miss Lindsay Haley; Leisure Living Management for River Ridge and Miss 
Billie Pitcher, also with River Ridge Retirement Community.   
 
Adler described the project as an addition for an existing supportive care facility. The 
addition is approximately twenty thousand (20,000) square feet and consists of twenty 
(20) units. Adler noted that the existing supportive care facility is twenty (20) units and the 
independent living facility is twenty-four (24) units. The existing parking for the existing 
units includes spaces for twenty (20) cars with two (2) accessible spaces. This proposal 
is adding twenty-two (22) total parking spaces. Adler noted that the total required parking 
for this facility is about ten (10) spaces. Adler believes this proposal came before the 
Planning Commission twice before where the addition was approved but the developer 
never put a shovel in the ground and added, “This time we are determined to have this 
happen.”  
 
Peterson asked if anything has changed since the previous proposal to which Adler 
responded that the layout of the plan has changed a little and this plan encroached a little 
more on the wetlands. Peterson asked if that is legal to which Adler responded that it is.  
 
Smith asked Adler to describe the functionality of the space. Per Adler, the proposed 
building addition can be entered through an exterior door or through a corridor from the 
existing space. Referring to an exhibit, Adler noted that the green spaces represent adult 
foster/memory care locations and pointed out the dining area and shared living space. 
Adler commented that each area has their own shared spaces. Adler noted that there are 
also separate foster/assisted living spaces with their own shared areas in the proposed 
addition. 
 
Paull asked for clarification of the term “memory care” which Adler noted is for those 
patients with difficulties remembering and gave the example of Alzheimer’s disease. 
 
Motion by Peterson, second by Miles to close the public hearing.  
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 
Paull observed that this is the time for the board to discuss the proposal among 
themselves, noting that this or similar plans have been proposed for years and hopefully 
will now come to fruition. Paull also noted that if the Planning Commission approves the 
proposal, a motion would be in the form of a recommendation to City Council to approve 
the proposed site plan. 
 
Motion by Smith, second by Heinig to recommend that City Council approve the attached 
resolution allowing construction of Phase 2 development for River Ridge Retirement 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 3 of 86



October 1, 2015 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 
 

3 
 

Village at 706 Kentucky Avenue with the stipulation that all engineering and safety 
concerns be resolved prior to submission to the city council and final approval.  
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 
 

7. Other Business – Updated Rules of Procedure 
 

Anderson stated that this item follows  discussion by the Planning Commission to add to 
their by-laws that unless the meeting is attended by the applicant or their representative 
such request will not be discussed or acted upon and will be tabled until the next meeting. 
Anderson noted that this action does not require a public hearing or City Council action; 
the Planning Commission may amend their by-laws or rules of procedure at any time. 
 
Frost asked whether “representative” is a defined term. After discussion, it was decided to 
add the word “authorized” before the word representative.  
 
Motion by Heinig, second by Frost to approve the adoption of the amended Rules of 
Procedure as presented with the addition of the word “authorized” before the word 
“representative.”  
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
8. Commissioner Comments 
 

Smith:  Happy fall. 
 
Paull: Noted that the Planning Commission passed an amendment to the Zoning 
Ordinance in the form of an overlay zone and the Zoning Board of Appeals has been 
receiving significant numbers of requests from people who are starting new businesses or 
doing new things which trigger the ordinance. The Zoning Board is doing a very nice job 
of enforcing that particular addition to the ordinance and making sure the property owners 
are doing something, even if not entirely all that you passed. This is probably going to be 
a process and the Zoning Board of Appeals is doing a good job. Your work is appreciated 
and upheld. 
 
There were no other comments. 

 
9. Adjourn 
 

Motion by Smith, second by Stimson to adjourn at 7:14 p.m. 
 
All in favor. Motion carried. 

 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
 
Marsha Ransom 
Recording Secretary 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 4 of 86



Planning Commission 
Staff Report 

November 5, 2015 

Planning Commission Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item #6 
Woodham’s Ford Site Plan Review 

 1111 LaGrange Street 
 

City of South Haven 
 
 

Background Information:  Woodham’s Ford, 1111 La Grange Street, is requesting site plan 
review for a planned large renovation project. The parcel numbers for this property are 80-53-
615-025-00 and 80-53-615-009-00. This project is in the B-2 zoning district and Area C of the 
Overlay Zone. 
 
Two (2) variance requests for this project will be heard on October 26. The variances are for 
side setback along Aylworth and front yard landscaping. If the variances are denied, the 
applicant will address the issues at the planning commission meeting. 
 
Other than the two variance issues, the site plan is in compliance with zoning and engineering 
requirements. 
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the site plan contingent on satisfactory 
resolution of the setback and landscaping issues. 
 
Support Material: 
 
Application 
Narrative 
Site plans 
Concept drawings 
Zoning review 
 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 5 of 86



866-637-2137

ross@woodhamsford.com

B-2,M-43/I-196
CORRIDOR OVERLAY

801.6. & 2403.1

615-009-00,
615-025-00,
615-028-00,
615-014-00,
615-011-00

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 6 of 86



25 FT

25 FT

20 FT

20 FT

198,484 SQ FT
LAGRANGE:    465.51 FT         
AYLWORTH:  224.58 FT

24,819 SQ FT

22'-4"

MOTOR VEHICLE SALES AND SERVICE ESTABLISHMENTS

c. Business and Commercial, 18)
One (1) for each two hundred (200) square feet of usable floor area of sales room
and one (1) for each one (1) auto service stall in the service room.

SALES ROOM:  3559 SQ. FT. @ 1 PER 200       = 18 SPACES
SERVICE STALLS:  15 TOTAL @ 1 PER STALL = 15 SPACES
GRAND TOTAL REQUIRED = 33 SPACES

33 33

9' X 20' MINIMUM

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 7 of 86



October 13, 2015

Linda Anderson, Zoning Administrator
City of South Haven
539 Phoenix Street
South Haven, MI  49090

RE:  Woodhams Ford Renovation – Site Plan Review Narrative

We are pleased to submit the Woodhams Ford Renovation Project for Site Plan Review with 
the City of South Haven Planning Commission.  Enclosed please find drawings depicting the 
proposed work as planned and engineered per City requirements.

The proposed project is a renovation and addition to the existing Woodhams Ford Dealership 
on the Northeast corner of Lagrange and Aylworth Streets.  The proposed building upgrades 
will connect the two West buildings with a new service lane and customer service center and 
remodel the existing spaces to create new showroom space, expand the service bays and 
transform the building facades to reflect Ford Corporate Standards.  This project will improve 
the Business loop corridor by enhancing the quality of the built environment and set a new 
standard for the development of this important gateway into the City.

The Owner has applied for two zoning variances with the City to ask for relief from the required 
setback at Aylworth Street and current M-43/I-196 Corridor Overlay landscaping standards.  
The Public Hearing will be held on October 26th and any decision or recommendation of the 
ZBA will be incorporated into the proposed drawings prior to the Site Plan Review meeting on 
November 5, 2015.

The project site is a total of 198,484 square feet (4.55 Acres) with a total proposed surface 
coverage of 66,520 square feet (33.5%) ; a reduction from existing (69,422 square feet) 
equaling 2,902 square feet (1.5%).  The total proposed building area is 24,810 square feet, an 
increase of 5,151 square feet from existing.  Customer and employee parking is provided per 
requirements and totals 33 spaces.  

The project will utilize existing water and sewer services.  Existing overhead electrical service 
will be converted to a new underground power feed to a new transformer on site and fed 
below ground to service panels.  The proposed drainage plan continues existing grades and 
drainage on the North, East and South portions of the site with new building roof area water 
directed to the surface as shown on the drainage plan.  The area currently sheet draining to 
LaGrange has been redirected to a permeable buffer strip and will be reduced in volume.

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 8 of 86



Woodhams Ford
City of South Haven

Site Plan Review Narrative
October 13, 2015

Page 2 of 2

P:\_Projects\2015 PROJECTS\15-0775 Woodhams Ford - Pioneeer Const\Permits & Apps\Site Plan Review\15-0775 Site Plan Review Narrative.docx

The permits required for this project include building and electrical permits for construction 
through the City of South Haven, mechanical and plumbing permits for construction through 
the State of Michigan, Drive and Drainage permits from Michigan Department of 
Transportation, and Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control permit through Van Buren County.  
Both MDOT and SESC applications have been made.  Construction permits will be obtained 
prior to any work begun on site.

Upon Variance and Site Plan approvals, construction will commence with project completion 
expected in April 2016.  

We thank you for the opportunity to present this plan for the enhancement of an important 
corridor in South Haven.  If you have any questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to 
contact us.

Sincerely,

Abonmarche

Jeffrey M. Saylor, A.I.A., LEED AP

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 9 of 86



 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 10 of 86



 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 11 of 86



 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 12 of 86



S89°10'05"E   399.53'

N
00
°5
2'
17
"E
   
16
0.
00
'

S89°10'05"E   49.39'

S1
9°
10
'2
3"
E 
  3
32
.7
7'

S89°10'53"E   61.42'

S0
0°
51
'3
7"
W
   
16
.5
0'

N89°10'30"W   227.30'

S0
0°
49
'3
9"
W
   
29
6.
21
'

N89°10'56"W   20.23'

N
00
°5
2'
04
"E
   
15
5.
89
'

N89°08'30"W   152.56'

S0
0°
52
'1
7"
W
   
15
6.
00
'

N89°10'56"W   224.58'

N
00
°5
2'
41
"E
   
46
5.
51
'

C0.1

JMS

ALC

JMS

SEPT.  2015

PR
O

JE
C

T:

DATE:

SHEET NO.

ACI JOB #

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

PM REVIEW:

SEAL:

SIGNATURE:

SCALE:

HORZ:
VERT:

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE
:

NO. REVISION DESCRIPTION: BY: DATE:

HARD COPY IS INTENDED TO
BE 24" X 36" WHEN PLOTTED.
SCALE(S) INDICATED AND

GRAPHIC QUALITY MAY NOT
BE ACCURATE FOR ANY

OTHER SIZES

QA/QC REVIEW:

DATE:

95
 W

es
t M

ai
n 

St
re

et
Be

nt
on

 H
ar

bo
r, 

M
I. 

49
02

3
T 

26
9.

92
7.

22
95

F 
26

9.
92

7.
10

17
M

an
ist

ee
, M

I
So

ut
h 

Ha
ve

n,
 M

I
So

ut
h 

Be
nd

, I
N

Po
rta

ge
, I

N

C
on

fid
en

ce
 B

y 
D

es
ig

n

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
La

nd
 S

ur
ve

yi
ng

M
ar

in
a/

W
at

er
fro

nt
C

om
m

un
ity

 P
la

nn
in

g
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

C
O

PY
RI

G
HT

 2
01

3 
- A

BO
N

M
A

RC
HE

 C
O

N
SU

LT
A

N
TS

, I
N

C
.

A
D

DI
TIO

N
 &

 R
EN

O
VA

TIO
N

S 
TO

W
O

O
DH

A
M

S 
FO

RD
11

11
 L

E 
G

RA
N

G
E 

ST
.

SO
UT

H 
HA

VE
N

 ,M
I 4

90
90

 
SU

RV
EY

 &
 L

EG
A

L
DE

SC
RI

PT
IO

N
S

 

GNF

1" = 40'
 

15-0775

SCALE:
SURVEY & LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS  

1" = 40'-0"N

PARCEL 1   #80-53-615-009-00

COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 10, TOWN 1 SOUTH, RANGE
17 WEST; THENCE EASTERLY ON SECTION LINE 258 FEET; THENCE NORTH 204.22 FEET;
THENCE WEST 258 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 204.22 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING.

PARCEL 2  #80-53-615-025-00
THE NORTH 15.22 FEET OF THE SOUTH 204.22 FEET OF THE EAST 152.62 FEET OF THE WEST
410.62 FEET OF THE SOUTH HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST
QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 10, TOWN 1 SOUTH, RANGE 17 WEST.

PARCEL 3  #80-53-615-028-00
BEGINNING 16.5 FEET NORTH OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTH HALF OF THE
SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER, THENCE
SOUTH ALONG 1/8TH LINE 141.58 FEET, THENCE EAST 410.62 FEET, THENCE NORTH 141.58
FEET, THENCE WEST TO THE BEGINNING, ALSO BEGINNING 16.5 FEET NORTH AND 410.62
FEET EAST OF THE SAID NORTHWEST CORNER, THENCE SOUTH 345.8 FEET, THENCE EAST 20
FEET, THENCE NORTH 345.8 FEET, THENCE WEST TO BEGINNING, EXCEPT LA GRANGE
STREET AND AYLWORTH AVENUE RIGHT OF WAY. SECTION 10, TOWN 1 SOUTH, RANGE 17
WEST.

PARCEL 4  #80-53-615-014-00

THE NORTH HALF OF THE SOUTH HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST
QUARTER OF SECTION 10, TOWN 1 SOUTH, RANGE 17 WEST, EXCEPT THE SOUTH 16.5 FEET
OF THE WEST HALF THEREOF. ALSO EXCEPT BEGINNING ON THE EAST SECTION LINE 658.3
FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SECTION, THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID
SECTION LINE 329.15 FEET, THENCE SOUTH 89° 58' 30" WEST TO THE WEST SECTION LINE OF
THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE
SECTION, THENCE NORTH 0° 01' EAST ALONG SAID WEST LINE 16.5 FEET, THENCE SOUTH
89° 58' 30" WEST 61.42 FEET, THENCE NORTH 20° 01' WEST 332.9 FEET, THENCE NORTH 89°
59' EAST 833 FEET TO THE BEGINNING. ALSO EXCEPT THE NORTH 160 FEET OF THE WEST 433
FEET OF THE SOUTH HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE
SECTION. ALSO EXCEPT LA GRANGE STREET RIGHT OF WAY.

PARCEL 5  #80-53-615-011-00
THE SOUTH 16.5 FEET OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST
QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 10, TOWN 1 SOUTH, RANGE 17 WEST,
EXCEPT THE WEST 430.62 FEET THEREOF.

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS          

#80-53-615-014-00

#80-53-615-011-00

#80-53-615-028-00

#80-53-615-025-00

#80-53-615-009-00

25' SETBACK

25
' S

ET
BA

C
K

25
' S

ET
BA

C
K

20' SETBACK

20' SETBACK

20' SETBACK

25
' S

ET
BA

C
K

25
' S

ET
BA

C
K

25
' S

ET
BA

C
K

AYLWORTH AVE.

LA
 G

R
AN

G
E 

ST
. -

 B
U

SI
N

ES
S 

I-
19

6

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 13 of 86

gfolino



S89°10'05"E   399.53'

N
00
°5
2'
17
"E
   
16
0.
00
'

S89°10'05"E   49.39'

S1
9°
10
'2
3"
E 
  3
32
.7
7'

S89°10'53"E   61.42'

S0
0°
51
'3
7"
W
   
16
.5
0'

N89°10'30"W   227.30'

S0
0°
49
'3
9"
W
   
29
6.
21
'

N89°10'56"W   20.23'

N
00
°5
2'
04
"E
   
15
5.
89
'

N89°08'30"W   152.56'

S0
0°
52
'1
7"
W
   
15
6.
00
'

N89°10'56"W   224.58'

N
00
°5
2'
41
"E
   
46
5.
51
'

C0.2

JMS

ALC

JMS

SEPT.  2015

PR
O

JE
C

T:

DATE:

SHEET NO.

ACI JOB #

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

PM REVIEW:

SEAL:

SIGNATURE:

SCALE:

HORZ:
VERT:

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE
:

NO. REVISION DESCRIPTION: BY: DATE:

HARD COPY IS INTENDED TO
BE 24" X 36" WHEN PLOTTED.
SCALE(S) INDICATED AND

GRAPHIC QUALITY MAY NOT
BE ACCURATE FOR ANY

OTHER SIZES

QA/QC REVIEW:

DATE:

95
 W

es
t M

ai
n 

St
re

et
Be

nt
on

 H
ar

bo
r, 

M
I. 

49
02

3
T 

26
9.

92
7.

22
95

F 
26

9.
92

7.
10

17
M

an
ist

ee
, M

I
So

ut
h 

Ha
ve

n,
 M

I
So

ut
h 

Be
nd

, I
N

Po
rta

ge
, I

N

C
on

fid
en

ce
 B

y 
D

es
ig

n

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
La

nd
 S

ur
ve

yi
ng

M
ar

in
a/

W
at

er
fro

nt
C

om
m

un
ity

 P
la

nn
in

g
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

C
O

PY
RI

G
HT

 2
01

3 
- A

BO
N

M
A

RC
HE

 C
O

N
SU

LT
A

N
TS

, I
N

C
.

A
D

DI
TIO

N
 &

 R
EN

O
VA

TIO
N

S 
TO

W
O

O
DH

A
M

S 
FO

RD
11

11
 L

E 
G

RA
N

G
E 

ST
.

SO
UT

H 
HA

VE
N

 ,M
I 4

90
90

 
LO

C
A

TIO
N

 M
A

P
   

GNF

1" = 150'
 

15-0775SCALE:
LOCATION MAP       

1" = 150'-0"N

AYLWORTH AVE.AYLWORTH AVE.

ELKENBURG ST.

BA
IL

EY
 A

VE
.  

M
-4

3

LA
 G

R
AN

G
E 

ST
. -

 B
U

SI
N

ES
S 

I-
19

6

C
EN

TE
R

 S
T.

LA
 G

R
AN

G
E 

ST
. -

 B
U

SI
N

ES
S 

I-
19

6

WOODHAMS FORD

B-2 GENERAL BUSINESS

R-1B SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

PB-1 PROFESSIONAL BUSINESS

ZONING LEGEND          

B-2

B-2

B-2

B-2

R-1B

R-1B

R-1B

R-1B R-1B

PB-1
PB-1

PB-1R-1B
B-2

B-2

R-1B

R-1BR-1B
R-1B

B-2

CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN
ZONING LIMITS

CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN
ZONING LIMITS

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 14 of 86

gfolino
Stamp



S89°10'05"E   399.53'

N
00
°5
2'
17
"E
   
16
0.
00
'

S1
9°
10
'2
3"
E 
  3
32
.7
7'

S89°10'53"E   61.42'

N89°10'30"W   227.30'

S0
0°
49
'3
9"
W
   
29
6.
21
'

N89°10'56"W   20.23'

N
00
°5
2'
04
"E
   
15
5.
89
'

N89°08'30"W   152.56'

S0
0°
52
'1
7"
W
   
15
6.
00
'

N89°10'56"W   224.58'

N
00
°5
2'
41
"E
   
46
5.
51
'

C1.0

JMS

ALC

JMS

SEPT.  2015

PR
O

JE
C

T:

DATE:

SHEET NO.

ACI JOB #

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

PM REVIEW:

SEAL:

SIGNATURE:

SCALE:

HORZ:
VERT:

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE
:

NO. REVISION DESCRIPTION: BY: DATE:

HARD COPY IS INTENDED TO
BE 24" X 36" WHEN PLOTTED.
SCALE(S) INDICATED AND

GRAPHIC QUALITY MAY NOT
BE ACCURATE FOR ANY

OTHER SIZES

QA/QC REVIEW:

DATE:

95
 W

es
t M

ai
n 

St
re

et
Be

nt
on

 H
ar

bo
r, 

M
I. 

49
02

3
T 

26
9.

92
7.

22
95

F 
26

9.
92

7.
10

17
M

an
ist

ee
, M

I
So

ut
h 

Ha
ve

n,
 M

I
So

ut
h 

Be
nd

, I
N

Po
rta

ge
, I

N

C
on

fid
en

ce
 B

y 
D

es
ig

n

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
La

nd
 S

ur
ve

yi
ng

M
ar

in
a/

W
at

er
fro

nt
C

om
m

un
ity

 P
la

nn
in

g
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

C
O

PY
RI

G
HT

 2
01

3 
- A

BO
N

M
A

RC
HE

 C
O

N
SU

LT
A

N
TS

, I
N

C
.

A
D

DI
TIO

N
 &

 R
EN

O
VA

TIO
N

S 
TO

W
O

O
DH

A
M

S 
FO

RD
11

11
 L

E 
G

RA
N

G
E 

ST
.

SO
UT

H 
HA

VE
N

 ,M
I 4

90
90

 
EX

IS
TIN

G
 C

O
N

DI
TIO

N
S

& 
RE

M
O

VA
LS

 

GNF

1" = 30'
 

15-0775
SCALE:
EXISTING CONDITIONS & REMOVALS  

1" = 30'-0"

1. EXISTING BUILDING NOT PART OF PROJECT

2. EXISTING BUILDING AREA REMAIN AS-IS

3. EXISTING BUILDING AREA TO BE DEMOLISHED

4. AREA OF ASPHALT TO BE REMOVED

5. AREA OF EXISTING ASPHALT TO BE MILLED DOWN AND RESURFACED

6. AREA OF EXISTING GRAVEL TO BE REMOVED

7. AREA OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK TO BE REMOVED

8. EXISTING CONCRETE CURB TO REMAIN

9. EXISTING CONCRETE CURB TO BE REMOVED

10. TAKE CARE NOT TO DAMAGE EXISTING GAS VALVE WHEN
REMOVING ASPHALT IN THIS LOCATION

11. REMOVE EXISTING SIGN & BASE AS REQUIRED - TURN SIGN OVER TO
OWNER

12. TAKE CARE NOT TO DAMAGE EXISTING MANHOLE WHEN
REMOVING ASPHALT IN THIS LOCATION

13. REMOVE EXISTING PIPE BOLLARD

14. TAKE CARE NOT TO DAMAGE EXISTING CATCH BASIN WHEN
REMOVING ASPHALT IN THIS LOCATION

15. EXISTING SIGN TO BE REMOVED & RELOCATED BY MDOT

16. REMOVE EXISTING LIGHT POLE & BASE

17. REMOVE EXISTING GUARDRAIL & POST SUPPORTS

18. EXISTING ELECTRICAL METER TO BE REMOVED BY _____

19. REMOVE EXISTING WALL MOUNTED LIGHT FIXTURE

20. TAKE CARE NOT TO DAMAGE EXISTING GUY WIRE ANCHOR WHEN
REMOVING ASPHALT IN THIS LOCATION

21. TAKE CARE NOT TO DAMAGE EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT WHEN
REMOVING ASPHALT IN THIS LOCATION

22. EXISTING POWER POLE TO REMAIN

23. REMOVE EXISTING LOW WALL AS REQUIRED

24. REMOVE EXISTING SIGN, STEEL SUPPORT LEGS & FOUNDATIONS

25. EXISTING SIDEWALK TO REMAIN

26. CONTRACTOR TO TEMPORARILY SUPPORT EXISTING ROOF TRUSSES
AS REQUIRED PRIOR TO REMOVAL OF CMU BEARING WALL

REMOVALS KEYNOTES       

N

24'-5" 50'

6

4

5

5

5

4

2

2

4

73

4

11

12

4

9

7

3

7

7

23

13

7
24 13

13
17

9

7

13

16

15

14

10

10

4

10

9

10

21

20

22

10

4

18
19

25

8

8

8

4

9

4

1

4

4

9

13

16

22

A. CONTRACTOR TO CALL MISS DIG TO MARK ALL AVAILABLE UTILITIES
PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY DEMO WORK

B. CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE & VERIFY (WITH APPROPRIATE
AUTHORITIES) THE SHUT-OFF, DEACTIVATION OR REMOVAL OF ANY
ACTIVE UTILITIES IN AREAS OF REMOVAL PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY
DEMO WORK

C. CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ALL REQUIRED SOIL EROSION CONTROL
PROTECTION HAS BEEN COMPLETED PRIOR TO THE START OF ANY
DEMO WORK.

GENERAL NOTES       

26

18'-7"

15
'-6

"
18

'-4
"20'-2"

10'

10
'

14'

5'

℄ OF NEW O.H.
DOOR

℄ OF NEW O.H.
DOOR

14'

5'

25'

25'

5'

ALIGN W/ BACK OF
EXISTING CURB

Know what's

R

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 15 of 86

gfolino
Stamp



S89°10'05"E   399.53'

N
00
°5
2'
17
"E
   
16
0.
00
'

S1
9°
10
'2
3"
E 
  3
32
.7
7'

S89°10'53"E   61.42'

N89°10'30"W   227.30'

S0
0°
49
'3
9"
W
   
29
6.
21
'

N89°10'56"W   20.23'

N
00
°5
2'
04
"E
   
15
5.
89
'

N89°08'30"W   152.56'

S0
0°
52
'1
7"
W
   
15
6.
00
'

N89°10'56"W   224.58'

N
00
°5
2'
41
"E
   
46
5.
51
'

C1.1

JMS

ALC

JMS

SEPT.  2015

PR
O

JE
C

T:

DATE:

SHEET NO.

ACI JOB #

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

PM REVIEW:

SEAL:

SIGNATURE:

SCALE:

HORZ:
VERT:

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE
:

NO. REVISION DESCRIPTION: BY: DATE:

HARD COPY IS INTENDED TO
BE 24" X 36" WHEN PLOTTED.
SCALE(S) INDICATED AND

GRAPHIC QUALITY MAY NOT
BE ACCURATE FOR ANY

OTHER SIZES

QA/QC REVIEW:

DATE:

95
 W

es
t M

ai
n 

St
re

et
Be

nt
on

 H
ar

bo
r, 

M
I. 

49
02

3
T 

26
9.

92
7.

22
95

F 
26

9.
92

7.
10

17
M

an
ist

ee
, M

I
So

ut
h 

Ha
ve

n,
 M

I
So

ut
h 

Be
nd

, I
N

Po
rta

ge
, I

N

C
on

fid
en

ce
 B

y 
D

es
ig

n

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
La

nd
 S

ur
ve

yi
ng

M
ar

in
a/

W
at

er
fro

nt
C

om
m

un
ity

 P
la

nn
in

g
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

C
O

PY
RI

G
HT

 2
01

3 
- A

BO
N

M
A

RC
HE

 C
O

N
SU

LT
A

N
TS

, I
N

C
.

A
D

DI
TIO

N
 &

 R
EN

O
VA

TIO
N

S 
TO

W
O

O
DH

A
M

S 
FO

RD
11

11
 L

E 
G

RA
N

G
E 

ST
.

SO
UT

H 
HA

VE
N

 ,M
I 4

90
90

 
PR

O
PO

SE
D 

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
   

GNF

1" = 30'
 

15-0775

11
7'

-6
"

42
'-4

"
36

'-4
"

7"

33
'-1

"20
'-1

0"

20'26'+/-
5'

4'

11'-9"

30
'

20
'

40
'

24
'

9'

6"

5' 12'-8" 14'-8"

77'-4"

4' 20' 4 
@

 9
' =

 3
6'

4'

5'

5'-10"+/- 20'

6 
@

 9
' =

 5
4'

16
'

10'

2'

R10'

R10'

Typ. 5'

R2'

22'-6"
6"

R4'-6"

6"
11'-6"

4'20'26'-4"+/-

R5'
12'

R5
'

2'

5'

80
'

7 
@

 1
0'

 =
 7

0'

2'-6"

2'-6"

24'-8" 9'-5"

38'-10"50'21'-6"

SCALE:
PROPOSED SITE PLAN  

1" = 30'-0"

1. EXISTING BUILDING NOT PART OF PROJECT

2. EXISTING BUILDING AREA REMAIN W/ RENOVATIONS

3. EXISTING BUILDING AREA TO BE RENOVATED

4. NEW BUILDING ADDITION AREA

5. AREA OF EXISTING ASPHALT TO BE MILLED DOWN AND RESURFACED

6. AREA OF NEW ASPHALT PAVING

7. AREA OF NEW CONCRETE SIDEWALK

8. NEW CONCRETE CURB, MDOT TYPE E2

9. PARKING SPACE & NO PARKING AREA STRIPPING

10. 1 FT CURB OPENINGS TO FACILITATE DRAINAGE, 20 FT ON CENTER (TYP) - SEE
DETAIL BELOW

11. NEW CONCRETE CURB, MDOT TYPE E1

12. NEW CONCRETE TRANSFORMER PAD LOCATION

13. NEW CONCRETE APRON AT DOOR

14. EXISTING CONCRETE O.H. DOOR APRON TO REMAIN

15. EXISTING  SIGN & CONCRETE FOUNDATION TO REMAIN

16. NEW LAWN AREA W/ PAVEMENT REMOVED - SEE DEMOLITION & LANDSCAPE
PLANS

17. NEW CONCRETE DRIVE TO EXISTING GARAGE DOOR

18. EXISTING LAWN & PLANTING AREA TO REMAIN

19. EXISTING MDOT CURB TO REMAIN

20. EXISTING LAWN AREA TO REMAIN

21. EXISTING ASPHALT DRIVEWAY ACCESS & CONCRETE CURBS TO REMAIN

22. NEW ASPHALT DRIVEWAY ACCESS -  MDOT DRIVEWAY OPENING, DET. M WITH
MDOT TYPE F1 CURB AND GUTTER

23. EXISTING CONCRETE SIDEWALK TO REMAIN

24. NEW 5' CONCRETE APRON AT NEW OVERHEAD DOOR LOCATIONS

25. EXISTING CURB AND GUTTER TO REMAIN

26. STRIPED AREA FOR LOADING ZONE

27. NEW LIGHT POLE BASE

28. NEW CONCRETE PAD FOR DUMPSTER

29. SCREENING FENCE W/ GATES FOR DUMPSTER

30. ONE-WAY DIRECTIONAL SIGNAGE

SITE PLAN KEYNOTES       

N

18'-9"

15
'-7

"

40
'-7

"+
/-

20
'

20
'

15
'-2

"+
/-

33
'

25
'+

/-
20

'
20

'

1

3 2

4

3

5

5

5

6

7

9

8

7

8 96

6

7

78

9

9

8

10

6

6

8

7

9

8

10

11

12

13

14

8

15

16

6

18

23

19

20

21

19

22

11

19

25 20

16

16

21

24

24
24

24

22
2'

-6
"

184'-11"

72'-1"

55'-2"

45'-6"

62'-4"

17

139'-3"+/-  ALIGN W/ EXISTING PAVING

76
'-1

"+
/-

  A
LI

GN
 W

/ E
XI

ST
IN

G 
PA

VI
N

G

28

29

20
'

20
'

A. AREA COVERED BY STRUCTURES

EXISTING SERVICE BUILDING 10,451 SF
EXISTING SOUTH BUILDING 5,521 SF
NEW ADDITION 5,151 SF

TOTAL COMBINED BUILDING 21,123 SF

EXISTING BODY SHOP 3,696 SF

TOTAL BUILDING AREA 24,819 SF

B. PARKING REQUIRED BY ZONING FOR MOTOR VEHICLE SALES & SERVICE
ESTABLISHMENTS

1 SPACE FOR EVERY 200SF OF USABLE FLOOR AREA OF SHOW ROOM
& 1 SPACE FOR EACH AUTO SERVICE STALL

SALES AREA - 3,559 SF / 200 = 18 SPACES

15 SERVICE BAYS = 15 SPACES

TOTAL REQUIRED = 33 SPACES

TOTAL SPACES SHOWN = 33 SPACES

C. LOT COVERAGE

TOTAL SITE AREA 198,484 SF (4.55 ACRES)

EXISTING LOT COVERAGE 69,422 SF 35%

PROPOSED LOT COVERAGE 66,520 SF 33.5%

GENERAL NOTES       

E2 CURB SECTION
OPENING (TYP)

NOT TO SCALE

20' 20'

1'
6" (TYP) CONC CURB, MDOT TYPE E2

HMA PARKING/DRIVE SURFACE

6"

1'
-4

"

CONTINUE CURB SECTION
BELOW OPENING

GAP

R2" (TYP)

R2'

R20'

R2'

R15'

9

2 @ 10' = 20'
5 @ 10' = 50'

20
'

20
'

R20'

26

27

27

27

10'-6"

30

30

SERVICE BUILDING
ELEV. 637.60

SALES BUILDING
ELEV. 638.64

BODY SHOP
ELEV. 637.76

FIRELANE
ACCESS

FIRELANE
ACCESS

FIRELANE
ACCESS

5 @ 10' = 50'

20
'

NEW CAR PARKING

Know what's

R

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 16 of 86

gfolino
Stamp



S0
0°
49
'3
9"
W
   
29
6.
21
'

N89°10'56"W   20.23'

N
00
°5
2'
04
"E
   
15
5.
89
'

N89°08'30"W   152.56'

S0
0°
52
'1
7"
W
   
15
6.
00
'

N89°10'56"W   224.58'

N
00
°5
2'
41
"E
   
46
5.
51
'

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY ALL GRADES PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  IF
DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN THE PROPOSED ELEVATIONS AND EXISTING FIELD
CONDITIONS, CONTACT THE ENGINEER PRIOR TO INSTALLATION FOR CLARIFICATION.

2. ALL GRADES/SLOPES MUST ACHIEVE POSITIVE DRAINAGE AWAY FROM BUILDING AND
STRUCTURES.

3. ALL SIDEWALK GRADES SHALL MEET ADA REQUIREMENTS FOR LESS THAN 5%
RUNNING SLOPE AND LESS THAN 2% CROSS SLOPE.

4. SIDEWALK DIRECTION CHANGES AND LANDINGS HAVE A MINIMUM 5x5' LEVEL
LANDING (LESS THAN 2% IN ALL DIRECTIONS).

5. ALL ASPHALT PAVING SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED WITH POSITIVE DRAINAGE
THROUGHOUT THE PARKING LOT AND AT ALL PAVING SEAMS.

6. MAINTAIN POSITIVE DRAINAGE THROUGHOUT CONSTRUCTION AND POST
CONSTRUCTION.

7. ELEVATIONS SHOWN IN LANDSCAPING AREAS ADJACENT TO BUILDING ARE
PROVIDED FOR GENERAL GUIDANCE.  SEE LANDSCAPING PLANS FOR MORE DETAIL.

8. CONTOURS SHOWN ARE EXISTING

GENERAL NOTES

HATCH LEGEND        

SIDEWALK, CONC, 6 INCH

HMA PAVING LIMITS

NEW PERVIOUS LANDSCAPING AREA
6,796 sf

JMS

ALC

JMS

SEPT.  2015

PR
O

JE
C

T:

DATE:

SHEET NO.

ACI JOB #

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

PM REVIEW:

SEAL:

SIGNATURE:

SCALE:

HORZ:
VERT:

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE
:

NO. REVISION DESCRIPTION: BY: DATE:

HARD COPY IS INTENDED TO
BE 24" X 36" WHEN PLOTTED.
SCALE(S) INDICATED AND

GRAPHIC QUALITY MAY NOT
BE ACCURATE FOR ANY

OTHER SIZES

QA/QC REVIEW:

DATE:

95
 W

es
t M

ai
n 

St
re

et
Be

nt
on

 H
ar

bo
r, 

M
I. 

49
02

3
T 

26
9.

92
7.

22
95

F 
26

9.
92

7.
10

17
M

an
ist

ee
, M

I
So

ut
h 

Ha
ve

n,
 M

I
So

ut
h 

Be
nd

, I
N

Po
rta

ge
, I

N

C
on

fid
en

ce
 B

y 
D

es
ig

n

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
La

nd
 S

ur
ve

yi
ng

M
ar

in
a/

W
at

er
fro

nt
C

om
m

un
ity

 P
la

nn
in

g
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

C
O

PY
RI

G
HT

 2
01

3 
- A

BO
N

M
A

RC
HE

 C
O

N
SU

LT
A

N
TS

, I
N

C
.

C1.2

A
DD

ITI
O

N
 &

 R
EN

O
VA

TIO
N

S 
TO

W
O

O
DH

A
M

S 
FO

RD
11

11
 L

E 
G

RA
N

G
E 

ST
.

SO
UT

H 
HA

VE
N

 ,M
I 4

90
90

 
SI

TE
 G

RA
DI

N
G

 &
 D

RA
IN

A
G

E
   

GNF

1" = 30'
 

15-0775

SCALE:
GRADING & SITE DRAINAGE  

1" = 20'-0"

1. PROVIDE SWALE ALONG GREENBELT (SEE CROSS SECTION DETAIL BELOW)

GRADING KEYNOTES       

N

FL FLUSH

GR GRADE

MT MEET

TC TOP OF CURB

BC BOTTOM OF CURB

F.F. FINISHED FLOOR

ADJ ADJUST COVER

EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

GRADING LEGEND      

AYLWORTH AVENUE

M
-1

40
/L

E 
G

R
AN

G
E 

ST
R

EE
T

NOT TO SCALE

PROPOSED
SWALE

PROPOSED MDOT TYPE E2 CURB
WITH OPENINGS EVERY 20-FEET

TO ALLOW FOR DRAINAGE

2%2%

PARKING
AREA/DRIVE

1

1

1

F.F. = 638.64

0.05%

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 17 of 86

gfolino
Stamp



S89°10'05"E   399.53'

N
00
°5
2'
17
"E
   
16
0.
00
'

S1
9°
10
'2
3"
E 
  3
32
.7
7'

S89°10'53"E   61.42'

N89°10'30"W   227.30'

S0
0°
49
'3
9"
W
   
29
6.
21
'

N89°10'56"W   20.23'

N
00
°5
2'
04
"E
   
15
5.
89
'

N89°08'30"W   152.56'

S0
0°
52
'1
7"
W
   
15
6.
00
'

N89°10'56"W   224.58'

N
00
°5
2'
41
"E
   
46
5.
51
'

1. COORDINATE ALL UTILITY WORK WITH CITY OF SOUTH HAVEN ON SERVICE
REMOVALS AND ANY ALTERATIONS TO CITY OWNED UTILITIES.

2. ADJUST ALL WATER SHUTOFFS AND SANITARY MANHOLES TO REMAIN TO NEW
PAVEMENT ELEVATIONS.

3. MAINTAIN POSITIVE DRAINAGE THROUGHOUT CONSTRUCTION AND POST
CONSTRUCTION.

GENERAL UTILITY NOTES

C1.3

JMS

ALC

JMS

SEPT.  2015

PR
O

JE
C

T:

DATE:

SHEET NO.

ACI JOB #

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

PM REVIEW:

SEAL:

SIGNATURE:

SCALE:

HORZ:
VERT:

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE
:

NO. REVISION DESCRIPTION: BY: DATE:

HARD COPY IS INTENDED TO
BE 24" X 36" WHEN PLOTTED.
SCALE(S) INDICATED AND

GRAPHIC QUALITY MAY NOT
BE ACCURATE FOR ANY

OTHER SIZES

QA/QC REVIEW:

DATE:

95
 W

es
t M

ai
n 

St
re

et
Be

nt
on

 H
ar

bo
r, 

M
I. 

49
02

3
T 

26
9.

92
7.

22
95

F 
26

9.
92

7.
10

17
M

an
ist

ee
, M

I
So

ut
h 

Ha
ve

n,
 M

I
So

ut
h 

Be
nd

, I
N

Po
rta

ge
, I

N

C
on

fid
en

ce
 B

y 
D

es
ig

n

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
La

nd
 S

ur
ve

yi
ng

M
ar

in
a/

W
at

er
fro

nt
C

om
m

un
ity

 P
la

nn
in

g
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

C
O

PY
RI

G
HT

 2
01

3 
- A

BO
N

M
A

RC
HE

 C
O

N
SU

LT
A

N
TS

, I
N

C
.

A
D

DI
TIO

N
 &

 R
EN

O
VA

TIO
N

S 
TO

W
O

O
DH

A
M

S 
FO

RD
11

11
 L

E 
G

RA
N

G
E 

ST
.

SO
UT

H 
HA

VE
N

 ,M
I 4

90
90

 
SI

TE
 U

TIL
ITI

ES
   

GNF

1" = 30'
 

15-0775
SCALE:
SITE UTILITIES PLAN  

1" = 30'-0"

1. EXISTING WATER SERVICE LOCATION

2. EXISTING SANITARY SEWER PIPING LOCATION

3. EXISTING STORM DRAIN CATCH BASIN LOCATION

4. EXISTING GAS LINE LOCATION

5. EXISTING HIGH PRESSURE GAS LINE LOCATION

6. EXISTING ELECTRICAL POWER POLE (SOURCE OF BUILDING POWER)

7. EXISTING POWER POLE TO BE REMAIN & BE DEACTIVATED

8. EXISTING POWER LINES TO BE REMOVED

9. EXISTING PHONE OR CABLE LINES TO REMAIN

10. REMOVE EXISTING POWER TO DEMOLISHED LIGHT POLES

11. NEW UNDERGROUND POWER FEED TO NEW TRANSFORMER

12. NEW TRANSFORMER & PAD LOCATION

13. EXISTING POLE MOUNTED SIREN TO REMAIN (VERIFY POWER
REQUIREMENTS W/ CITY OR COUNTY FOR REACTIVATION)

SITE UTILITIES KEYNOTES       

N

4

5

5

6

1

1
2

2

3

3 3

3

4

5

47

7
7

8

8

8

8

9

13

10

10

11
12

8

HAZARDOUS AND/OR
FLAMMABLE MATERIAL

CAUTION

HAZARDOUS AND/OR
FLAMMABLE MATERIAL

CAUTION

HAZARDOUS AND/OR
FLAMMABLE MATERIAL

CAUTION

HAZARDOUS AND/OR
FLAMMABLE MATERIAL

CAUTION

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 18 of 86

gfolino
Stamp



S89°10'05"E   399.53'

N
00
°5
2'
17
"E
   
16
0.
00
'

S0
0°
49
'3
9"
W
   
29
6.
21
'

N89°10'56"W   20.23'

N
00
°5
2'
04
"E
   
15
5.
89
'

N89°08'30"W   152.56'

S0
0°
52
'1
7"
W
   
15
6.
00
'

N89°10'56"W   224.58'

N
00
°5
2'
41
"E
   
46
5.
51
'

C1.4

JMS

ALC

JMS

SEPT.  2015

PR
O

JE
C

T:

DATE:

SHEET NO.

ACI JOB #

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

PM REVIEW:

SEAL:

SIGNATURE:

SCALE:

HORZ:
VERT:

SH
EE

T 
TIT

LE
:

NO. REVISION DESCRIPTION: BY: DATE:

HARD COPY IS INTENDED TO
BE 24" X 36" WHEN PLOTTED.
SCALE(S) INDICATED AND

GRAPHIC QUALITY MAY NOT
BE ACCURATE FOR ANY

OTHER SIZES

QA/QC REVIEW:

DATE:

95
 W

es
t M

ai
n 

St
re

et
Be

nt
on

 H
ar

bo
r, 

M
I. 

49
02

3
T 

26
9.

92
7.

22
95

F 
26

9.
92

7.
10

17
M

an
ist

ee
, M

I
So

ut
h 

Ha
ve

n,
 M

I
So

ut
h 

Be
nd

, I
N

Po
rta

ge
, I

N

C
on

fid
en

ce
 B

y 
D

es
ig

n

En
gi

ne
er

in
g

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
La

nd
 S

ur
ve

yi
ng

M
ar

in
a/

W
at

er
fro

nt
C

om
m

un
ity

 P
la

nn
in

g
La

nd
sc

ap
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

C
O

PY
RI

G
HT

 2
01

3 
- A

BO
N

M
A

RC
HE

 C
O

N
SU

LT
A

N
TS

, I
N

C
.

A
D

DI
TIO

N
 &

 R
EN

O
VA

TIO
N

S 
TO

W
O

O
DH

A
M

S 
FO

RD
11

11
 L

E 
G

RA
N

G
E 

ST
.

SO
UT

H 
HA

VE
N

 ,M
I 4

90
90

 
LA

N
DS

C
A

PE
 P

LA
N

   

GNF

1" = 30'
 

15-0775
SCALE:
LANDSCAPE PLAN  

1" = 30'-0"

1. EXISTING LAWN AREA TO REMAIN - PATCH/REPAIR AREAS AROUND
NEW TREE PLANTING

2. NEW LAWN AREA TO BUILDING SETBACK LINE - SEE DEMOLITION
PLAN

3. EXISTING ASPHALT AREA TO BE RESURFACED

4. NEW AREA OF ASPHALT

5. EXISTING SIGN BASE TO REMAIN

6. EXISTING SIDEWALK TO REMAIN

LANDSCAPE PLAN KEYNOTES       

N

3

1

2

1

5

4

4

3

4

4

6
1

2%2%

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 19 of 86

gfolino
Stamp



Sales Building
100' - 0"

Parapet
122' - 4"

Parapet
122' - 4"

Service Building
99' - 1 1/2"

Mezzanine
109' - 7 3/4"

Sales Building
100' - 0"

Parapet
122' - 4"

Parapet
122' - 4"

Service Building
99' - 1 1/2"

Service Building
99' - 1 1/2"

Mezzanine
109' - 7 3/4"

P
R

O
J
E
C

T
:

S
H

E
E
T
 T

IT
L
E
:

MODELED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

PM REVIEW:

QA/QC REVIEW:

DATE:

SEAL:

SIGNATURE:

DATE:

SCALE:

Unless Noted Otherwise

ACI JOB #

SHEET NO.

HARD COPY IS INTENDED TO BE
24" x 36" WHEN PLOTTED

SCALE(S) INDICATED AND
GRAPHIC QUALITY MAY NOT

BE ACCURATE FOR ANY OTHER

SIZES

9
5

 W
e

st
 M

a
in

 S
tr

e
e

t

B
e

n
to

n
 H

a
rb

o
r,

 M
I.
 4

9
0

2
2

T  
2

6
9

.9
2

7
.2

2
9

5

F
 2

6
9

.9
2

7
.4

6
3

9

M
a

n
is

te
e

, 
M

I
S
o

u
th

 H
a

v
e

n
, 
M

I
S
o

u
th

 B
e

n
d

, 
IN

P
o

rt
a

g
e

, 
IN

A
B

O
N

M
A

R
C

H
E

C
o

n
fi
d

e
n

c
e

 B
y
 D

e
si

g
n

E
n

g
in

e
e

ri
n

g
A

rc
h

it
e

c
tu

re
La

n
d

 S
u

rv
e

y
in

g
M

a
ri
n

a
/W

a
te

rf
ro

n
t

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 P

la
n

n
in

g
La

n
d

sc
a

p
e

 A
rc

h
it
e

c
tu

re
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T 

2
0

1
4

 -
 A

B
O

N
M

A
R

C
H

E
 C

O
N

S
U

LT
A

N
TS

, 
IN

C
.

 1/8" = 1'-0"

A
D

D
IT

IO
N

 &
 R

E
N

O
V

A
TI

O
N

S
 T

O

W
O

O
D

H
A

M
S
 F

O
R

D

1
1

1
1

 L
E
 G

R
A

N
G

E
 S

T.

S
O

U
TH

 H
A

V
E
N

, 
M

I 
4

9
0

9
0

E
X

TE
R

IO
R

 E
LE

V
A

TI
O

N
S

Author

Designer

Checker

Approver

Oct. 2015

15-0775

A2.1

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

Overall - West

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

Sales Bldg - South

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

Service Bldg - North

PAINT EXISTING GARAGE  BAYNEW CORRUGATED METAL SIDING
OVER EXISTING MASONRY WALL
W/ NEW WINDOWS

METAL PANEL CLAD CANOPY
OVER NEW CAR PICK-UP
MICA (DARK GRAY)

FORD ENTRY TOWER

METAL PANEL CLAD WING WALL
FOR LINCOLN SIGNAGE

39" HIGH DEALERSHIP SIGNAGE PER FORD SPECIFICATIONS

CORRUGATED METAL SIDING
OVER EXISTING MASONRY WALL

NEW SERVICE LANE MASONRY WALL
W/ CORRUGATED METAL SIDING

METAL PANEL CLAD FACADE WALL AT OVER HANGMETAL PANEL CLADDING OVER EXISTING MASONRY WALL

FORD ENTRY TOWER

METAL PANEL CLAD FACADE WALL

CORRUGATED METAL SIDING AT FACADE WALL

STOREFRONT GLAZING SYSTEM PER FORD SPECIFICATIONS

METAL PANEL CLAD WING WALL
FOR LINCOLN SIGNAGE

PROPOSED NEW O.H. DOOR INTO SERVICE AREA

NEW DOUBLE DOOR INTO PROPOSED PARTS AREA

METAL PANEL CLADDING OVER EXISTING
MASONRY WALL - MICA (DARK GRAY)

PAINT EXISTING SERVICE BUILDING

EXTEND METAL PANEL CLADDING 12" MIN.

DRAWING REVISED PER FORD MOTOR CO. NOTATIONS - 4/29/15

NO. REVISION DESCRIPTION BY DATE

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 20 of 86

gfolino
Stamp



Sales Building
100' - 0" Service Building

99' - 1 1/2"

Sales Building
100' - 0"

Parapet
122' - 4"

B

A3.1

A

Sales Building
100' - 0"

Parapet
122' - 4"

Service Building
99' - 1 1/2"

B

A3.1

P
R

O
J
E
C

T
:

S
H

E
E
T
 T

IT
L
E
:

MODELED BY:

DESIGNED BY:

PM REVIEW:

QA/QC REVIEW:

DATE:

SEAL:

SIGNATURE:

DATE:

SCALE:

Unless Noted Otherwise

ACI JOB #

SHEET NO.

HARD COPY IS INTENDED TO BE
24" x 36" WHEN PLOTTED

SCALE(S) INDICATED AND
GRAPHIC QUALITY MAY NOT

BE ACCURATE FOR ANY OTHER

SIZES

9
5

 W
e

st
 M

a
in

 S
tr

e
e

t

B
e

n
to

n
 H

a
rb

o
r,

 M
I.
 4

9
0

2
2

T  
2

6
9

.9
2

7
.2

2
9

5

F
 2

6
9

.9
2

7
.4

6
3

9

M
a

n
is

te
e

, 
M

I
S
o

u
th

 H
a

v
e

n
, 
M

I
S
o

u
th

 B
e

n
d

, 
IN

P
o

rt
a

g
e

, 
IN

A
B

O
N

M
A

R
C

H
E

C
o

n
fi
d

e
n

c
e

 B
y
 D

e
si

g
n

E
n

g
in

e
e

ri
n

g
A

rc
h

it
e

c
tu

re
La

n
d

 S
u

rv
e

y
in

g
M

a
ri
n

a
/W

a
te

rf
ro

n
t

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 P

la
n

n
in

g
La

n
d

sc
a

p
e

 A
rc

h
it
e

c
tu

re
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T 

2
0

1
4

 -
 A

B
O

N
M

A
R

C
H

E
 C

O
N

S
U

LT
A

N
TS

, 
IN

C
.

 1/8" = 1'-0"

A
D

D
IT

IO
N

 &
 R

E
N

O
V

A
TI

O
N

S
 T

O

W
O

O
D

H
A

M
S
 F

O
R

D

1
1

1
1

 L
E
 G

R
A

N
G

E
 S

T.

S
O

U
TH

 H
A

V
E
N

, 
M

I 
4

9
0

9
0

E
X

TE
R

IO
R

 E
LE

V
A

TI
O

N
S

Author

Designer

Checker

Approver

Oct. 2015

15-0775

A2.2
NO. REVISION DESCRIPTION BY DATE

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

Overall - East

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

- Sales Bldg - North

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

- Service Bldg - South

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 21 of 86

gfolino
Stamp



W
oo

d
h

am
s 

Fo
rd

 L
in

co
ln

P
ro

p
os

ed
 L

ig
h

ti
n

g
 R

en
ov

at
io

n
s

S
ou

th
 H

av
en

, 
M

i

Designer
MLS PDG RE
Date
10/13/2015
Scale
Not to Scale
Drawing No.
100
Summary

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

1.0

1.9

2.5

3.1

1.9

2.1

2.0

2.5

2.9

1.6

1.1

0.3

0.1

4.0

4.2

4.3

4.1

2.9

2.2

2.3

3.4

3.5

3.3

2.4

2.0

1.7

1.7

2.2

2.5

3.4

4.4

4.8

5.0

3.3

3.9

3.7

4.2

4.6

2.8

2.1

0.6

0.2

3.0

6.2

6.3

2.9

2.8

2.1

3.8

3.4

5.8

4.2

4.5

2.3

2.6

4.8

4.3

5.6

4.8

7.5

4.1

3.3

5.4

3.7

5.3

3.6

3.3

5.3

2.2

0.6

0.2

2.0

3.8

3.5

2.0

1.2

1.2

1.4

3.1

4.0

3.8

1.9

1.5

1.7

2.6

4.5

5.9

6.6

3.8

2.5

2.2

2.1

5.0

3.0

3.9

3.5

3.4

4.0

0.6

0.2

0.8

2.7

1.4

0.9

0.5

0.4

0.6

0.7

1.8

6.9

6.3

2.1

1.6

1.6

1.7

2.1

2.3

2.8

5.6

3.8

3.2

0.8

0.3

0.9

5.8

14.1

6.7

1.4

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.2

1.8

2.3

3.2

5.4

3.3

0.6

0.3

1.0

9.5

8.2

6.6

1.3

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.9

1.6

2.0

3.0

5.1

2.9

0.4

0.2

1.0

8.2

4.8

5.8

1.1

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.7

1.5

2.4

5.2

3.8

2.9

0.2

0.1

0.6

4.0

7.4

5.9

1.0

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.6

1.5

4.6

3.9

4.1

2.8

0.1

0.1

0.4

1.1

0.5

7.6

13.0

12.5

11.4

5.6

1.1

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.8

1.5

1.9

4.9

3.2

2.1

0.2

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.1

4.4

4.9

5.8

9.9

14.8

7.9

5.7

0.9

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.5

1.9

2.8

4.8

3.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.5

0.7

1.2

6.6

6.9

5.5

4.9

0.8

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.8

1.5

1.8

3.5

3.9

2.3

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

3.5

2.5

10.2

4.5

0.8

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.6

3.3

4.8

4.1

2.7

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

2.0

0.6

12.8

4.2

0.7

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.7

1.6

3.6

4.6

4.2

2.7

0.1

0.1

2.3

5.9

9.8

9.2

3.4

2.5

5.4

3.5

0.5

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.8

1.5

1.7

3.7

3.7

2.2

0.3

0.1

2.2

2.6

2.4

1.6

1.7

2.1

1.7

0.4

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.9

1.5

1.9

2.8

4.7

3.5

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.2

0.7

1.1

0.7

0.8

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.7

1.5

1.8

4.7

3.3

2.0

0.2

0.1

2.4

2.2

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.5

4.4

4.0

4.2

2.8

0.1

0.1

7.7

4.0

0.5

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.4

2.4

5.1

3.7

2.9

0.2

0.1

10.4

4.2

0.6

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.7

1.3

1.6

2.7

4.9

2.7

0.3

0.1

7.6

3.9

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

1.1

1.5

2.5

5.0

3.0

0.3

0.1

3.2

2.3

2.1

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.8

1.4

4.3

2.9

2.4

0.2

0.1

7.6

8.6

6.5

2.9

1.4

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

2.2

1.8

1.9

1.4

1.7

1.9

1.7

1.1

0.8

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

16.5

A A A A

A

A

BBB

B
B

B

B

B

B

B

B

C

C

C

Plan View
Scale - 1" = 30'

Description Symbol Avg Max Min

Calc Zone #1 2.0 fc 16.5 fc 0.0 fc

Schedule

Symbol Label Quantity Manufactur
er Catalog Number Description Wattage

B
11 Cree Inc OSQ A NM 3ME J

57K
Cree OSQ Series Area
Luminaire, Type III
Medium, J Input Power
Designator, 5700K

168

C
3 Cree Inc OSQ A NM 2ME J

57K
Cree OSQ Series Area
Luminaire, Type II
Medium, J Input Power
Designator, 5700K

168

A
6 Cree Inc OSQ A NM 4ME S

57K-UL OSQ-
BLSLF

Cree OSQ Series Area
Luminaire, Type IV Medium
w/ Backlight Shield, S
Input Power Designator,
5700K

223

Luminaire Locations

Label X Y Z

Location

MH

A 205.00 509.00 25.00 25.00
A 279.00 507.00 25.00 25.00
A 351.00 507.00 25.00 25.00
A 424.00 509.00 25.00 25.00
A 129.00 400.00 25.00 25.00
A 129.00 477.00 25.00 25.00
B 318.00 336.00 15.00 15.00
B 261.00 338.00 15.00 15.00
B 203.00 339.00 15.00 15.00
B 327.00 285.00 15.00 15.00
B 449.00 280.00 15.00 15.00
B 270.00 159.00 15.00 15.00
B 254.00 219.00 15.00 15.00
B 244.00 253.00 15.00 15.00
B 280.00 270.00 15.00 15.00
B 218.00 144.00 15.00 15.00
B 415.00 306.00 15.00 15.00
C 168.00 339.00 25.00 25.00
C 165.00 237.00 25.00 25.00
C 161.00 135.00 25.00 25.00

View #1

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 22 of 86



 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 23 of 86



 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 24 of 86



 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 25 of 86



Planning Commission 
Staff Report 

November 5, 2015 

Planning Commission Staff Report 
 

Agenda Item #7 
Proposed Amendments to the  

Zoning Ordinance 
 

City of South Haven 
 
 

Background Information:  Since the completion of the Master Plan in 2011, a planning 
commission subcommittee has been working on amendments to the zoning ordinance which 
were either recommended in the master plan or needed for housekeeping and clarification 
purposes. This project took longer than expected due to other single ordinances taking priority, 
such as the PUD ordinance, R1-C regulations and the noise ordinance. Due to the length of 
time this project took, there have been some changes in membership on the subcommittee. 
Now that the current subcommittee is finished with the amendments, staff is asking the planning 
commission to review the changes in the first several Articles and schedule a public hearing.  
 
Staff has attached a summary of the proposed amendments with the added text shown bold 
and the deleted language shown as strikethrough. 
 
Recommendation: Please review the attached information and determine if more study is 
needed or is the amendments are ready for public hearing. 
 
Support Material: 
 
 Draft Articles 
Summary of proposed amendments 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 26 of 86



ARTICLE II 
CONSTRUCTION OF LANGUAGE AND DEFINITIONS 

 
 
SECTION 200.  CONSTRUCTION OF LANGUAGE 
 

Sec. 200.  Construction of Language. 

The following rules of construction apply to the text of this Ordinance: 

1. The particular shall control the general. 

2. In the case of any difference of meaning or implication between the text of 
this Ordinance and any caption or illustration, the text shall control. 

3. The word "shall" is always mandatory and not discretionary. The word "may" 
is permissive. 

4. Words used in the present tense shall include the future; and words used in 
the singular number shall include the plural, and the plural the singular, unless 
the context clearly indicates the contrary. 

5. A "building" or "structure" includes any part thereof. 

6. The phrase "used for" or “occupied” includes "arranged for," "designed for," 
"intended for," "maintained for," or “occupied for." 

7. The word "person" includes an individual, a corporation, a partnership, trust, 
firm, an incorporated association, or any other similar entity. 

8. Unless the context clearly indicates the contrary, where a regulation involves 
two or more items, conditions, provisions, or events connected by the conjunction 
"and," "or," or "either...or," the conjunction shall be interpreted as follows: 

a.  "And" indicates that all the connected items, conditions, provisions or 
events shall apply. 

b.  "Or" indicates that the connected items, conditions, provisions or events 
may apply singly or in any combination. 

c.  "Either...or" indicates that the connected items, conditions, provisions or 
events shall apply singly but not in combination. 

9. Terms not herein defined shall have the meaning customarily assigned to 
them.  A dictionary may be consulted. 

10. The word “lot” includes the word “plot”, “tract”, or “parcel”. 

11. The words “this Ordinance” means the text of this Ordinance as well as all 
maps, tables, graphics, schedules as included or attached and as enacted or 
subsequently amended. 

12. The “City” is the City of South Haven in the County’s of Allegan and Van 
Buren, State of Michigan; the “Council” is the City Council of South Haven; the 
Planning Commission is the Planning Commission of the City of South Haven; 
the Board of Appeals is the Zoning Board of Appeals, Board of Zoning Appeals 
or “Board” of the City of South Haven. 

13. In computing a period of days, the first day is excluded and the last day is 
included. If the last day of any period is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday, the 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 27 of 86



period is extended to include the next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, or 
legal holiday. 

14. Where any provision of this Ordinance imposes a greater restriction upon the 
subject matter than another provision, the provision imposing the greater 
restriction or regulation shall control. 

 
15. The use of the terms “he” or “his” shall be interpreted as gender 
neutral and shall be used nonspecifically in reference to gender when 
found in this ordinance.  
  

Sec. 201.  Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this Ordinance, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a 
different meaning: 

Sec. 201.1.  “A”. 
Access:   The right and ability to enter, approach and pass to and from a parcel of 
property. Also, the physical means to enter and exit property. 
Accessory Use or Accessory:  A use, which is clearly incidental to, customarily found in 
connection with, and (except in the case of some accessory off-street parking spaces or 
loading) located on the same zoning lot as, the principal use to which it is related.  When 
“accessory” is used in this text, it shall have the same meaning as accessory use.  An 
accessory use includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

1.  Residential accommodations for servants in single-family dwellings. 

2. Swimming pools for the use of the occupants of a residence or their guests. 

3. Domestic or agricultural storage in a barn, shed, tool room, or similar 
accessory building or other structure. 

4. Storage of merchandise normally carried in stock in connection with a 
business or industrial use, unless such storage is excluded in the applicable 
district regulations. 

5. Storage of goods used in, or produced by, industrial uses or related activities, 
unless such storage is excluded in the applicable district regulations. 

6. Accessory off-street parking spaces, open or enclosed, subject to the 
accessory off-street parking regulations for the district in which the zoning lot is 
located. 

7. Uses clearly incidental to a main use such as, but not limited to, offices of an 
industrial or commercial complex located on the site of the commercial or 
industrial complex. 

8. Accessory off-street loading, subject to the off-street loading regulations for 
the district in which the zoning lot is located. 

9. Accessory signs, subject to the sign regulations for the district in which the 
zoning lot is located. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 28 of 86



Accessory Building or Accessory Structure:  A building or structure customarily incidental 
and subordinate to the principal structure whether attached or detached and located on 
the same zoning lot as the principal building.  Except as otherwise provided by this 
Ordinance, an accessory building or accessory structure shall not be used for human 
habitation or as a dwelling.  As used in Article XVI, an accessory structure shall not have 
a permanent foundation and shall be constructed to be readily movable or removed. 

Adult Entertainment:  See definitions in Section 1510.01.  Words defined there include: 
adult bookstore, adult mini motion picture theater, adult motion picture theater, adult 
smoking or sexual paraphernalia store, massage parlor, pool or billiard hall, open dance 
hall, host or hostess establishment, pawnshop, secondhand store, sauna, hot tub or 
similar health or body improvement enterprises, pinball or video game arcade or 
establishment, specified sexual activities, and specified anatomical areas. 

Alley:  Any publically owned and dedicated public way other than a street, affording a 
secondary means of access to abutting property and not intended for general traffic 
circulation. 

Alterations:  Any change, addition or modification in construction or type of occupancy, 
or in the structural members of a building, such as walls or partitions, columns, beams or 
girders, the consummated act of which may be referred to herein as “altered” or 
“reconstructed.” 

Amusement Enterprise – A commercially operated business that offers rides, 
games and other forms of entertainment, whether permanent or temporary. This 
definition does not apply to Adult Entertainment Facilities as regulated in Section 
1510.01. 
Apartments:  A suite of rooms or a room in a multiple-family building, including bath and 
kitchen facilities, arranged and intended for a place of residence of a single family. 

Applicant:  A person who submits an application under one of the procedures therefore 
in this Ordinance. 

Assisted Living Facility: A facility providing housing for elderly or disabled people 
that provides nursing care, housekeeping, and prepared meals as needed. 
 

Attached Dwelling:  A one-family dwelling attached to two (2) or more one-family 
dwellings by common vertical walls. 

Automobile Repair:  The general repair, engine rebuilding, rebuilding or reconditioning of 
motor vehicles; collision service, such as body, frame or fender straightening and repair; 
overall painting and undercoating of automobiles. 

Sec. 201.2.  “B”. 
Basement:  That portion of a building, which is partly or wholly below finished grade, but 
so located that the vertical distance from the average grade to the floor is greater than 
the vertical distance from the average grade to the ceiling.  A basement shall not be 
counted as a story (see Figure 2-1).  A cellar is a basement. 

Bed and Breakfast Hotel:  An owner-occupied bed and breakfast which has more than 
ten (10) but less than fifteen (15) sleeping rooms available for transient occupancy, 
including sleeping rooms occupied by the innkeeper and his/her family, and which may 
or may not have other commercial facilities for use. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 29 of 86



Bed and Breakfast Inn:  A single family, owner occupied dwelling unit in which transient 
guests are provided a sleeping room and board for compensation as an accessory use 
of the one-family dwelling.  A continental or American breakfast, lunch, and/or dinner 
may be served to overnight guests only.  A bed and breakfast inn has ten (10) or less 
sleeping rooms available for transient occupancy, including sleeping rooms occupied by 
the innkeeper and his/her family. 

Benefit, Recognizable and Substantial:  A clear benefit, both to the ultimate users of the 
property in question and to the community, which would reasonably be expected to 
accrue, taking into consideration the reasonable foreseeable detriments of the proposed 
development and use(s), including, without limitation: long-term protection and/or 
preservation of natural resources and natural features and/or historical and/or 
architectural features of a significant quantity and/or quality in need of protection or 
preservation on a local, state and/or national basis; reducing to a significant extent the 
nonconformity of a nonconforming use or structure so that, to a significant extent, it is 
rendered more conforming, or less offensive, to the zoning district in which it is situated. 

Berm:  A mound of earth graded, shaped, and improved with landscaping in such a 
fashion as to be used for visual and/or audible screening purposes to provide a transition 
between uses of differing intensity. 

Billboard:  See definition in Section 2000.1. 

Block:  The property abutting one side of a street and lying between the two nearest 
intersecting streets (crossing or terminating); or between the nearest such street and 
railroad right-of-way, unsubdivided acreage, lake, river or live stream; or between any of 
the foregoing and any other barrier to the continuity of development, or corporate 
boundary lines of the municipality. 

Bluffline:  The line that is the edge or crest of the elevated segment of the shoreline 
above the beach or riverbank, which normally has a precipitous front, inclining steeply on 
the shoreline side.  Where no elevated segment of the shoreline exists, the bluffline shall 
be determined as the line of continuous, perennial vegetation nearest the water.  

Boarding House/Rooming House:  A structure in which furnished rooms, or apartments, 
are let to lodgers on a temporary basis. 

Buffer Strip:  A strip of land reserved for plant material, berms, walls, or fencing to serve 
as a visual and/or sound barrier between properties, often between abutting properties 
and properties in different zoning districts.  Landscaping, berms, fencing, or open space 
can also be used to buffer noise, light and related impacts from abutting properties even 
if not in a separately established buffer strip and may be so required by this Ordinance. 

Building:  Any structure, either temporary or permanent, having a roof supported by 
columns, walls or other supports, and used or intended for the shelter or enclosure of 
persons, animals, chattels, or property of any kind, or for the conduct of business.  The 
definition includes but is not limited to: mobile homes, tents, inflatable structures, sheds, 
garages, greenhouses, and other principal and accessory buildings. 

Building Footprint – The area included within surrounding exterior walls excluding 
courtyards. Areas of a building open to the sky, such as uncovered stairs, 
porches and patios, are not included in the building area. 

 
Buildable Area – That area of a parcel of land inside the required yards upon 
which structures may be built or moved. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 30 of 86



Building Inspector:  The City of South Haven Building Inspector or the Code 
Enforcement Officer. 

Building, Principal (same as Main Building):  A building in which is conducted the main or 
principal use of the lot upon which it is situated. 

Sec. 201.3.  “C”. 
Campground:  A parcel or tract of land under the control of a person in which sites are 
offered for the use of the public or members of an organization, either free of charge or 
for a fee, for the establishment of temporary living quarters for five (5) or more 
recreational units. 

Campsite:  An area designated for the exclusive, temporary use of a single recreational 
unit. 

Carry-out Food Establishment:  A business establishment so developed that its retail or 
service character is dependent upon the preparation of food for consumption off the 
premises. 

Carport:  A partially open structure, intended to shelter one or more vehicles.  Such 
structures shall comply with all yard requirements applicable to garages. 

Cemetery:  Property, including crematories, mausoleums, and/or columbariums, used, or 
intended to be used solely for the perpetual interment of deceased human beings or 
customary household pets. 

Certificate of Occupancy:  A document signed by the Building Inspector as a condition 
precedent to the commencement of a use or the occupancy of a structure or building, 
which acknowledges that such use, structure, or building, complies with the provisions of 
the Building Code. 

Certificate of Zoning Compliance:  A document signed by the Zoning Administrator as a 
condition precedent to the commencement of a use or the occupancy of a structure or 
building, which acknowledges that such use, structure, or building, complies with the 
provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Change of Use:  A use of a building, structure, or parcel of land, or portion thereof, which 
is different from the previous use in the way it is classified in this Ordinance or in the 
Building Code, as amended. 

Changeable Message Board:  A sign which identifies a business, institution or 
organization on the premises of which it is located and which contains the name of the 
business, institution or organization, the names of individuals connected with it, and 
general announcements of events or activities occurring at the institution or similar 
messages such as products on sale, the price of a product or a special service 
opportunity. 

Church:  A building wherein persons regularly assemble for religious worship and which 
is maintained and controlled by a religious body organized to sustain public worship, 
together with all accessory buildings and uses customarily associated with such primary 
purpose. 

Club:  An organization of persons or a group of persons associated for a common 
purpose or a special purpose for promotion or engaging in sports, recreational and social 
activities, arts, sciences, literature, politics or the like, but not operated for profit and 
open only to members and not to the general public. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 31 of 86



Communication Tower:  A radio, telephone or television relay structure including but not 
limited to monopole, skeleton framework, or other design which is attached directly to 
the ground or to another structure, used for the transmission or reception of radio, 
television, microwave, or any other form of telecommunications signals. 

Comprehensive Plan:  The plan adopted by the Planning Commission pursuant to Public 
Act 33 of 2008, as amended, including text, maps and graphic proposals indicating the 
general location for streets, parks, schools, public buildings, and all physical 
development of the municipality, the relationship of land uses to one another, and 
includes any unit or part of such plan, and any amendment to such plan or parts thereof. 

Condominium Project:  Means a plan or project consisting of not less than two (2) 
condominium units if established and approved in conformance with the Condominium 
Act (Act 59 of the Public Acts of 1978). 

Condominium Master Deed:  See Master Deed. 

Condominium Subdivision:  A division of land on the basis of condominium ownership, 
pursuant to the Condominium Act and which is not subject to the provisions of the 
Subdivision Control Act of 1967, Public Act 288 of 1967, as amended. 

Condominium Subdivision Plan:  The drawings attached to the master deed for a 
condominium subdivision which describe the size, location, area, horizontal and vertical 
boundaries and volume of each condominium unit contained in the condominium 
subdivision, as well as the nature, location and size of common elements. 

Condominium Unit:  Means that portion of a condominium project or condominium 
subdivision which is designed and intended for separate ownership and use, as 
described in the master deed, regardless of whether it is intended for residential, office, 
industrial, business, recreational, use as a time-share unit, or any other type of use.  The 
owner of a condominium unit also owns a share of the common elements.  The term 
“condominium unit” shall be equivalent to the term “lot”, for purposes of determining 
compliance of the site condominium subdivision with the provisions of this Ordinance 
pertaining to minimum lot size, minimum lot width, and maximum lot coverage. 

Conflict of Interest:  Participation by a member of the Zoning Board of Appeals, Planning 
Commission, or City Council in a public hearing, lobbying, or voting on a matter in which 
the property in question is owned, leased, rented or is proposed to be developed by the 
member; is owned or is to be developed by a relative, boss or close friend of the 
member; or involves a party with whom the member shares a financial interest, such as 
a partner, borrower, lender, renter or investor; or is property which abuts or is near 
property owned by the member and the member does not feel he/she can objectively 
evaluate the request and vote in an unbiased manner.  This definition applies to any 
matter being decided under the Zoning Ordinance.  Charter provisions or conflict of 
interest provisions in other Ordinances shall guide other decisions unless the City 
Attorney or a Court of Law rules otherwise. 

Convalescent or Retirement Facility:  A structure whose principal purpose is the 
provision of sleeping, eating and gathering rooms where persons afflicted with illness, 
injury, or an infirmity are housed or lodged, often for extended periods of time, and who 
are furnished with meals and nursing care. 

Sec. 201.4.  “D”. 
Day Care Center (Child Care Center):  A facility, licensed by the State of Michigan, 
receiving one or more preschool or school age children for care for periods of less than 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 32 of 86



24 hours a day, and where the parents or guardians are not immediately available to the 
child.  Child care center or day care center includes a facility, which provides care for not 
less than two consecutive weeks, regardless of the number of hours of care per day.  
The facility is generally described as a child care center, day care center, day nursery, 
nursery school, parent cooperative preschool, play group, or drop-in center.  Child care 
center or day care center does not include any of the following: 

1.  A Sunday school, a vacation bible school, or a religious instructional class 
that is conducted by a church or other religious organization where children are 
in attendance for not greater than 3 hours per day for an indefinite period, or not 
greater than 8 hours per day for a period not to exceed 4 weeks during a 12-
month period. 

2.  A facility operated by a church or other religious organization where children 
are cared for while persons responsible for the children are on the premises. 

Day Care (Family, Home):  A licensed day care center as an accessory use in a private 
home in which at least 1 but less than 7 minor children are received for care and 
supervision for periods of less than 24 hours a day, unattended by a parent or legal 
guardian, except children related to an adult member of the family by blood, marriage, or 
adoption.  Family day care home includes a home that gives care to an unrelated minor 
child for more than 4 weeks during a calendar year. 

Day Care (Group, Home) or Day Nursery:  As defined in PA 116 of 1973, MCL 722.111, 
a “group day care home” means a licensed day care center in a private home as an 
accessory use in which more than 6 but not more than 12 minor children are given care 
and supervision for periods of less than 24 hours a day unattended by a parent or legal 
guardian, except children related to an adult member of the family by blood, marriage, or 
adoption.  Group day care home includes a home that gives care to an unrelated minor 
child for more than 4 weeks during a calendar year. 

Deck:  An unroofed structure, generally with a pole or pier foundation, used for outdoor 
living purposes which may or may not be attached to a building and which protrudes 
more than four (4) inches above the finished grade.  (See Section 1722.) 

Deed Restriction:  A restriction on the use of a lot or parcel of land that is set forth in the 
deed and recorded with the County Register of Deeds.  It is binding on subsequent 
owners and is sometimes also known as a restrictive covenant.  Unless the City has an 
ownership interest in the property, a deed restriction is enforced by the parties to the 
agreement, not by the City. 

Density:  The number of dwelling units situated on or to be developed on a net acre (or 
smaller unit) of land, which shall be calculated by taking the total gross acreage and 
subtracting the area in rights-of-way for streets and roads.  (See Figure 2-6 and 
definitions of Lot Area, Gross and Lot Area, Net). 

Detached Dwelling:  A dwelling that is not attached to any other dwelling by any means. 

Development:  A parcel of land with one or more structures and a legal use. 

District (or Zone):  A portion of the incorporated area of the municipality within which 
certain regulations and requirements, or various combinations thereof, apply under the 
provisions of this Ordinance. 

Drive-in:  A business establishment so developed that its retail or service character is 
dependent on providing a driveway approach or parking spaces for motor vehicles so as 
to serve patrons while in the motor vehicle rather than within a building or structure. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 33 of 86



Drive Through: A type of accessory service provided by a business that allows 
customers to purchase products or food without leaving their cars. 
 

Driveway:  A means of access for vehicles from a street or approved alley across a lot or 
parcel to a parking or loading area, garage, dwelling or other structure or area on the 
same lot, that is located and constructed in accordance with the requirements of this 
Ordinance and any other requirements of the City, the County Road Commission or 
State of Michigan (depending on which entity exercises authority over the street from 
which driveway access is derived). 

Dwelling:  A structure designed for occupancy by one (1) family for residential purposes 
that is either permanently affixed to the ground, like a dwelling unit, or is a mobile 
structure like a travel trailer, or motor home. 

Dwelling Unit:  A building, or portion thereof, designed as a self-contained unit for 
occupancy by one (1) family for residential purposes and having bathroom and cooking 
facilities. 

Dwelling, One-Family:  A dwelling unit designed for occupancy by one (1) family; also 
known as a single-family dwelling. 

Dwelling, Two-Family:  A building containing two (2) dwelling units designed for 
occupancy by two (2) families living independently of each other; also known as a 
duplex.  A structure with two independent housekeeping units with independent 
entrances and independent cooking, eating, living, sleeping and sanitary facilities shall 
be considered a two-family dwelling, unless there is a shared common living area joining 
the housekeeping units. 

Dwelling, Multiple-Family:  A building or a portion thereof, designed for occupancy of 
three (3) or more families living independently of each other.  A structure with three or 
more independent housekeeping units with independent entrances and independent 
cooking, eating, living, sleeping and sanitary facilities shall be considered a multiple-
family dwelling, unless there is a shared common living area joining the housekeeping 
units. 

Sec. 201.5.  “E”. 
Easement:  An interest in land that entitles its holder to the limited use of 
another’s property for a specified purpose. 
Efficiency Unit:  A dwelling unit consisting of one (1) room and having such facilities as 
kitchen, closets, bathrooms, and hallways in or immediately adjoining such room. 

Erected:  The word “erected” includes built, constructed, altered, reconstructed, moved 
upon, or any physical operations on the premises, which are required for a building or 
structure.  Excavation, fill, drainage, and the like, shall be considered a part of erection 
when done in conjunction with a structure. 

Essential Services:  The erection, construction, alteration, or maintenance by public 
utilities or municipal departments of underground, surface, or overhead gas, electrical, 
steam, fuel or water transmission or distribution systems; collection, telephone, 
communication, supply or disposal system; including poles, wires, mains, drains, 
sewers, pipes, conduits, cables, fire alarm and police call boxes, traffic signals and 
hydrants in connection therewith which are necessary for the furnishing of adequate 
service by such utilities or municipal departments for the general health, safety, 
convenience or welfare of the public, but not including towers, or office buildings, 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 34 of 86



substations, or structures which are enclosures or structures for service equipment, or 
maintenance depots. 

Excavation:  Any breaking of ground, except common household gardening and ground 
care.  

Sec. 201.6.  “F”. 
Family:  One or two persons or parents, with their direct lineal descendants and adopted 
or foster children (and including the domestic employees thereof) together with not more 
than three (3) persons not so related, living together in the whole or part of a dwelling 
comprising a single housekeeping unit. 

Farm:  The pursuit of any agricultural activity or the raising of livestock or small animals. 

Fence:  An accessory structure artificially constructed as a barrier and made of wood, 
metal, stone, brick, or various manufactured materials, which is usually erected, for the 
enclosure of yard areas. 

Flood Related Definitions:  See Section1612.  Words defined there include area of 
special flood hazard, base flood, development, flood or flooding, floodplain, floodway, 
flood insurance rate map, flood insurance study, substantial improvement, variance. 

Floor Area, Usable (For the purposes of computing parking):  That area used for, or 
intended to be used for, the sale of merchandise or services, or for use to serve patrons, 
clients, or customers.  Such floor area which is used, or intended to be used, principally 
for the storage or processing of merchandise, hallways, stairways, elevator shafts, 
restrooms, janitorial services, or for utilities or sanitary facilities shall be excluded from 
this computation of “Usable Floor Area.”  Measurement of usable floor area shall be the 
sum of the horizontal areas of the several floors of the building, measured from the 
interior faces of the exterior walls. 

Frontage:  The total continuous length of the front lot line.  (See also Lot, Front Lot Line.)  

Sec. 201.7.  “G”. 
Garage, Private:  An accessory building or accessory portion of a main building 
designed or used solely for the storage of motor-driven vehicles, boats, motor homes, 
snowmobiles and similar vehicles owned and used by the occupants of the building to 
which it is accessory. 

Gasoline Service Station:  A place for the dispensing, sale or offering for sale of motor 
fuels directly to users of motor vehicles, together with the sale and installation of minor 
accessories and services for motor vehicles, including but not limited to oil, grease, 
batteries, tires, other operational fluids and minor accessories for automobiles, but not 
including major automobile repair. 

Grade, Average:  The arithmetic average of the lowest and highest grade elevations in 
an area within five (5) feet of the foundation line of a building or structure (see Figure 2-
3). 

Grade, Finished:  The lowest point of elevation between the exterior wall of the structure 
and a line five (5) feet from the exterior wall of the structure. 

Grade, Natural:  The elevation of the ground surface in its natural state, before man-
made alterations.  

Group Care (Private, Home):  A private residence in which a day care center operator 
licensed by the State of Michigan permanently resides as a member of the household, 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 35 of 86



which residency shall not be contingent upon caring for children or employment by a 
licensed or approved child placing agency.  Private home includes a full-time foster 
family home, a full-time foster family group home, a group day care home, or a family 
day care home. 

Group Day Care Facilities (Large): A facility, other than a private residence, 
receiving one or more preschool or school age children for care for periods of 
less than twenty-four (24) hours a day and for not less than two (2) consecutive 
weeks and where the parents or guardians are not immediately available to the 
child.  
 

 

Sec. 201.8.  “H”. 
Hazardous Substance:  means one of the following: 

1.  A chemical or other material, which is or may become injurious to the public 
health, safety, or welfare or to the environment. 

2.  “Hazardous substance” as defined in the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, Public Law 96-
510, 94 Stat. 2767. 

3.  “Hazardous waste” as defined in the Natural Resources and Environmental 
Protection Act of 1994, as amended, MCL 324.11103. 

4.  “Petroleum” as defined in the Natural Resources and Environmental 
Protection Act of 1994, as amended, MCL 324.21303(d)(ii). 

Height (Building):  In the case of a principal building, the vertical distance measured from 
the average grade of the site to the highest point of the roof surface for flat roofs, to 
the deck eave line of mansard roofs, and to the average height between eaves and ridge 
for gable, hip and gambrel roofs (see Figure 2-2).  A cupola, widow’s watch, or tower 
that extends above the roof line shall be considered the highest point of the roof surface 
on roofs with such features.  The measurement of the height of an accessory building or 
structure shall be determined as the greatest vertical distance from the average finished 
grade of any side to the highest point of the roof surface (see also Section 1708(5) and 
Section 1732). Average grade to be determined by a topographic survey if lot 
variation is ten (10) feet or greater. 
High Risk Erosion Area:  An area of shoreline which is determined by the Department of 
Environmental Quality on the basis of studies and surveys to be subject to erosion and 
which is designated as such pursuant to the, Natural Resources and Environmental 
Protection Act, Public Act 451 of 1994, Part 323, as amended. 

Home Occupation:  An occupation or profession customarily carried on by an occupant 
of a dwelling unit as an accessory use, which is clearly incidental and secondary to the 
use of the dwelling unit for residential purposes. 

Hotel (or Motel): A building or group of buildings, whether detached or in 
connecting units, used as temporary individual sleeping units designed primarily 
for travelers and providing for accessory off-street parking facilities.  The term 
hotel shall include buildings designated as auto courts, hotels, tourist courts, 
motor courts, motor hotel, and similar appellations. A hotel shall not be 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 36 of 86



considered or construed to be a multiple family dwelling or a Bed and Breakfast 
Inn or Bed and Breakfast Hotel. 

 
Human Habitat:  A place in which a human being lives; a place of abode.  

 

Sec. 201.9.  “I”. 
Improvements:  Those features and actions associated with a project which are 
considered necessary by the body or official granting zoning approval, to protect natural 
resources, or the health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City and future users 
or inhabitants of the proposed project area, including, but not limited to roadways, 
lighting, utilities, sidewalks, screening, drainage, parking areas, and landscaping.  

 
Sec. 201.10.  “J”. 
Junk:  For the purpose of this Ordinance, the term “junk” shall mean any motor vehicles, 
machinery, appliances, products, or merchandise with parts missing, scrap metals or 
other trash, rubbish, refuse, or scrap materials that are damaged or deteriorated.  It 
includes any inoperable or abandoned motor vehicle which is not licensed for use upon 
the highways of the State of Michigan for a period in excess of thirty (30) days, unless it 
is actively in the process of rehabilitation as an antique car, and shall also include 
whether so licensed or not, any motor vehicle which is inoperative for any reason for a 
period in excess of thirty (30) days and which is not in a completely enclosed building.  It 
does not include domestic refuse if stored so as to not create a nuisance and is thirty 
(30) feet or more from any residential structure for a period not to exceed seven (7) 
days.  It also includes any other material so determined to be “debris” pursuant to 
Ordinance #731, Section 30-91 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of South Haven. 

Junk Yard:  An area where waste, used or secondhand materials are bought and sold, 
exchanged, stored, baled, packed, disassembled or handled, including, but not limited 
to, scrap iron and other metals, paper, rags, rubber tires and bottles.  A “Junk Yard” 
includes automobile salvage yards and includes any open area of more than two 
hundred (200) square feet for storage, keeping or abandonment of junk. 

Sec. 201.11.  “K”. 
Kennel, Commercial:  Any lot or premise on which five (5) or more dogs, cats, or other 
household pets four (4) months of age or older, are either permanently or temporarily 
boarded for remuneration, breeding, training, transfer or for sale purposes. This 
definition shall include the term “doggy daycare”. 
Sec. 201.12.  “L”. 
Loading Space:  An off-street space on the same lot with a building, or group of 
buildings, for the temporary parking of a commercial vehicle while loading and unloading 
merchandise or materials. 

Lodging Rental:  A lodging unit secured for transient or temporary occupancy for 
compensation, which may include but is not limited to, daily fees for a hotel room, motel 
room, bed and breakfast room, or residential dwelling unit.  (See Section 1738). 

Landscaping structure:  A structure intended as an exterior decoration, often associated 
with plantings, which is open to the sky, and does not support either a floor or a closed 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 37 of 86



roof, including an arbor, gateway arbor, shade arbor, trellis, retaining wall, raised garden 
bed, ornamental fence post, pillar, monument or statue. 

Lodging Unit:  A dwelling unit, hotel, motel, and bed and breakfast room or suite, which 
is used for temporary or transient lodging in exchange for compensation.  Any residential 
dwelling unit, which is rented for a period of less than 48 hours, or offered or advertised 
as a daily rental, shall be considered a lodging unit, and its use shall not be classified as 
a residential use.  (See Section 1738). 

Lot:  Land described in a recorded plat or by metes and bounds description, including a 
condominium unit in a site condominium subdivision, occupied or to be occupied by a 
building, structure, land use or group of buildings having sufficient size to comply with 
the frontage, area, width-to-depth ratio, setbacks, yards, coverage and buildable area 
requirements of this Ordinance, and having its principal frontage upon a public street or 
on a private road approved by the City (see Figure 2-4).  A lot may or may not be 
specifically designated as such on public records.  A lot may consist of: (a) a single lot of 
record; (b) a portion of a lot of record; (c) any combination of complete and/or portions of 
contiguous lots of record; or (d) a parcel of land described by metes and bounds, 
provided that in no case of a lot division or combination shall the width or depth of any lot 
or parcel created including residuals be less than that necessary to comply with the 
requirements of this Ordinance. 

Lot Area.  The area of a horizontal plane contained within the lot lines and right of way 
lines of a parcel, not including any area within a public right of way, or the 100 year 
Flood Plain as established by the Flood Insurance Rate Map promulgated by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency as referenced within Section 1613. 

Lot, Corner:  A lot where the interior angle of two adjacent sides at the intersection of 
two streets is less than one hundred and thirty-five (135) degrees.  A lot abutting upon a 
curved street or streets shall be considered a corner lot for the purposes of this 
Ordinance if the arc is of less radius than one hundred and fifty (150) feet and the 
tangents to the curve, at the two points where the lot lines meet the curve or the straight 
street line extended, form an interior angle of less than one hundred and thirty-five (135) 
degrees. 

Lot Coverage:  The amount of a lot, stated in terms of percentage, which is covered by 
all buildings, and/or structures located thereon.  This shall be deemed to include all 
buildings, roofed porches, arbors, breezeways, patio roofs, whether open box types 
and/or lathe roofs, or fully roofed, but shall not be deemed to include fences, walls, or 
hedges used as fences, unroofed decks (four inches or less above the finished grade) or 
patios or swimming pools.  Lot coverage shall be measured from the drip line of the roof 
or from the wall or foundation if there is no projecting portion of the roof. 

Lot, Depth of:  The average distance from the front lot line of the lot to its opposite rear 
line measured in the general direction of the side lines of the lot (see Figure 2-5). 

Lot, Flag:  A lot whose access to the public street is by a narrow, private right-of-way that 
is either a part of the lot or an easement across another property.  See Figures 2-4 and 
2-7. 

Lot Frontage:  The length of the front lot line. 

Lot, Interior:  Any lot other than a corner lot, which, with the exception of a “through lot”, 
has only one lot line fronting on a street (see Figure 2-4). 

Lot Lines:  The lines bounding a lot as defined herein and illustrated on Figure 2-7: 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 38 of 86



1.  Front Lot Line:  In the case of an interior lot, that line separating said lot from 
the street, private road, or other access easement.  In the case of a through lot, 
that line separating said lot from either street, private road, or other access 
easement.  (See Section 1715).  (Amended 1/17/85; Ord. No. 663) 

2.  Rear Lot Line:  That lot line opposite the front lot line.  In the case of a 
through lot or a lot having frontage on more than one street, the line, which is 
opposite, the street address selected by the owner.  In the case of a triangular or 
otherwise irregularly shaped lot or parcel, an imaginary line at least ten (10) feet 
in length entirely within the lot or parcel, parallel to and at a maximum distance 
from the front lot line.  (Amended 1/17/85; Ord. No. 663) 

3.  Side Lot Line:  Any lot line other than the front lot line or rear lot line.  A side 
lot line separating a lot from a street is a side street lot line.  A side lot line 
separating a lot from another lot or lots is an interior side lot line. 

Lot of Record:  A lot which is part of a subdivision and is shown on a plat, or a parcel of 
land, the dimensions of which are shown on a document or map, or a parcel of land 
described by survey or metes and bounds which is the subject of a deed or land contract 
and, in all three cases, that was legally created and legally existing at the effective 
date of this Ordinance, February 3, 1983, as such lot was depicted and 
dimensionally configured on such date, and is on file with the County Register of 
Deeds, or in common use by municipal or county officials and which actually exists as 
so shown, or any part of such parcel held in an record of ownership separate from that of 
the remainder thereof.  For the purposes of Article XVI, a lot of record only includes lots, 
which predate the effective date of the high-risk erosion designation. 

Lot, Through:  Any interior lot having frontage on two more or less parallel streets as 
distinguished from a corner lot (see Figure 2-4).  In the case of a row of through lots, all 
yards of said lots adjacent to streets shall be considered frontage, and front yard 
setbacks shall be provided as required. 

Lot, Waterfront:  A lot having a property line abutting the Black River and/or Lake 
Michigan. 

Lot Width:  The horizontal straight-line distance between the side lot lines, measured 
between the two points where the line establishing the setback for the front yard 
intersects the side lot lines. 

Lot, Zoning:  A single tract of land, located within a single block, which, at the time of 
filing for a building permit, is designated by its owner or developer as a tract to be used, 
developed, or built upon as a unit, under single ownership or control.  A zoning lot shall 
satisfy this Ordinance with respect to area, size, dimensions, and frontage as required in 
the district in which the zoning lot is located.  A zoning lot, therefore, may not coincide 
with a lot of record as filed with the County Register of Deeds, but may include one or 
more lots of record.  

Sec. 201.13.  “M”. 
Main Building:  A building in which is conducted the principal use of the lot upon which it 
is situated. 

Major Thoroughfare:  A public street, the principal use or function of which is to provide 
an arterial route for through traffic, with its secondary function the provision of access to 
abutting property.  A street with a nonresidential character. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 39 of 86



Marina:  A boat basin with facilities for berthing and securing all types of recreational 
craft, providing adequate supplies, provisions and service and fueling facilities, and 
repair and storage of boats. 

Marine Terminal:  A dock, pier, landing, structure, or property, which provides access 
from land to a water, based business. 

Master Deed:  The document recorded as part of a condominium subdivision to which 
are attached as exhibits and incorporated by reference the approved bylaws for the 
condominium subdivision and the condominium subdivision plan. 

Mezzanine:  An intermediate floor in any story occupying not to exceed one-third (1/3) of 
the floor area of such story. 

Minor Thoroughfare:  A public street identified as a secondary street or road on Figure 2-
8. 

Mobile Home: A structure, transportable in one or more sections, which is built on a 
chassis and designed to be used as a dwelling with or without permanent foundation, 
when connected to the required utilities, and includes the plumbing, heating, air-
conditioning, and electrical systems contained in the structure.  The term mobile home 
shall not include pick-up campers, travel trailers, motor homes, modular homes, 
recreational vehicles, recreational unit, converted buses, tent trailers, or other 
transportable structures designed for temporary use. 

Mobile Home Park:  A parcel or tract of land under the control of a person upon which 3 
or more mobile homes are located on a continual, nonrecreational basis and which is 
offered to the public for that purpose regardless of whether a charge is made therefore, 
together with any building, structure, enclosure, street, equipment, or facility used or 
intended for use incident to the occupancy of a mobile home. 

Mobile Home Site:  An area designated for the exclusive use of a single mobile home or 
recreational unit. 

Modular (Pre-Manufactured) Housing Unit:  A dwelling unit constructed solely within a 
factory, as a single unit, or in various sized modules or components, which are then 
transported by truck or other means to a site where they are assembled on a permanent 
foundation to form a single-family dwelling unit, and meeting all codes and regulations 
applicable to conventional single-family home construction. 

Motel:  A building or group of buildings, whether detached or in connecting units, used 
as individual sleeping or dwelling units designed primarily for transient automobile 
travelers and providing for accessory off-street parking facilities.  The term motel shall 
include buildings designated as auto courts, tourist courts, motor courts, motor hotel, 
and similar appellations, which are designed as integrated units of individual rooms 
under common ownership.  A motel shall not be considered or construed to be a multiple 
family dwelling. See Hotel 
Motor Home:  A self-propelled, licensed vehicle prefabricated on its own chassis, 
intended for recreational activities and temporary occupancy. 

Moveable Structure, Easily:  An accessory structure, which is smaller than two hundred 
twenty-five (225) square feet; is not built on a slab; does not have a permanent 
foundation; and is easily removable. 

Moveable Structure, Readily:  A small permanent structure (greater than two hundred 
twenty-five square feet and less than three thousand five hundred square feet) which is 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 40 of 86



designed, sited, and constructed to accomplish relocation at a reasonable cost relative 
to other structures of the same size and construction.  Access to and from the site shall 
be of sufficient width and acceptable grade to permit the structure to be relocated.  New 
construction and installations shall meet the following criteria to be considered readily 
moveable structures: 

1.  The buildings shall be on pilings, a basement, or crawl space.  Except as 
noted below, a slab-on-grade foundation does not meet this criterion. 

2.  Above-grade walls shall be stud wall construction.  Above-grade walls that 
are constructed of masonry, including stone walls, concrete poured or concrete 
block walls, and brick veneer walls do not meet this criterion. 

Existing permanent structures shall be considered readily moveable structures if the cost 
of relocation landward of the required setback distance is not more than 25% of the 
replacement cost of the structure (including any added cost of land) or if the existing 
structure meets the criteria for new construction in this subdivision.  A 1- or 2-car garage 
which is bolted to a slab foundation, which does not have living space within or above 
the structure, and which does not have plumbing or interior walls shall be considered a 
readily moveable structure if it meets the remainder of the requirements specified in this 
subdivision.  Septic systems, tile fields, or other waste-handling facilities are not readily 
moveable structures. 

Municipality:  The City of South Haven, Michigan.  

Sec. 201.14.  “N”. 
Nonconforming Building:  A building or portion thereof that does not conform to the 
provisions of this Ordinance in the district in which it is located. 

Nonconforming Lot:  An existing lot of record that does not conform to the area 
and/or dimensional provisions of this Ordinance in the district in which it is 
located. 
Nonconforming Lot of Record:  A lot legally created and legally existing at the effective 
date of this Ordinance, February 3, 1983, that does not conform to the area and/or 
dimensional provisions of this Ordinance in the district in which it is located. 

Nonconforming Structure:  A structure or portion thereof that does not conform to the 
provisions of this Ordinance in the district in which it is located.  Within Article XVI, it 
means a permanent structure which does not conform to the required setback distance 
at the time of high-risk erosion area designation or which became nonconforming due to 
erosion or became nonconforming due to a change in the required setback distance.  
Permanent structures that are constructed within the High Risk Erosion Overlay Zone in 
violation of the requirements of Article XVI shall not be considered to be nonconforming 
structures. 

Nonconforming Use:  A use that does not conform to the use provisions of this 
Ordinance in the district in which it is located. 

Nuisance:  An offensive, annoying, unpleasant or obnoxious thing or practice, a cause or 
source of annoyance, especially a continuing or repeating invasion of any physical 
characteristics of activity or use across a property line which can be perceived by or 
affects a human being, or the generation of an excessive or concentrated movement of 
people or things such as, but not limited to noise, dust, smoke, odor, glare, fumes, 
flashes, vibration, shock waves, heat, electronic or atomic radiation, objectionable 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 41 of 86



effluent, noise of congregation of people (particularly at night), passenger traffic, and 
invasion of nonabutting street frontage by traffic. 

Nursery, (Plant Materials):  A space, building or structure, or combination thereof, for the 
storage of live trees, shrubs or plants offered for retail sale on the premises, including 
products used for gardening or landscaping.  The definition of nursery within the 
meaning of this Ordinance does not include any space, building, or structure used for the 
sale of fruits, vegetables, or Christmas trees.  

Sec. 201.15.  “O”. 
Off-Street Parking Lot:  A facility providing vehicular parking spaces, along with 
adequate drives and aisles for maneuvering, so as to provide access for entrance and 
exit for the parking of more than three (3) vehicles. 

Open Air Business: A business where the goods offered for sale are displayed 
outside a building. Buildings on the property shall be incidental and used for 
office space only. This definition does not include seasonal open air businesses 
as regulated in Section 1731. 
Open Space, Common:  An area of land in a development, the use of which is limited to 
landscaping, conservation and recreational purposes and which is held for the collective 
use and enjoyment of the owners, tenants, or occupants of a single development, or by 
others if so authorized by this Ordinance or other municipal action. 

Open Space, Dedicated:  Common open space dedicated as a permanent recorded 
easement, or other means of permanent dedication that runs with the deed. 

Ordinary High Water Mark:  The line between upland and bottomland which persists 
through successive changes in water levels below which the presence and action of the 
water is so common or recurrent that the character of the land is marked distinctly from 
the upland and is apparent in the soil itself, the configuration of the surface of the soil, 
and the vegetation.  Pursuant to the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection 
Act, Public Act 451 of 1994, Part 325, formerly the Great Lakes Submerged Lands Act, 
P.A. 247 of 1955, as amended, the ordinary high water mark for Lake Michigan is 580.5 
feet above sea level, International Great Lakes Datum of 1985. 

Owner:  The owner of the premises or lesser estate in the premises, a mortgagee or 
vendee in possession, an assignee of rents, receiver, executor, trustee, lessee, or any 
other person, sole proprietorship, partnership, association, or corporation directly or 
indirectly in control of a building, structure, or real property, or his or her duly authorized 
agent.  

Sec. 201.16.  “P”. 
Parcel:  A lot described by metes and bounds or described in a recorded plat, or as used 
in Article XVI, a continuous area or acreage of land, which is under the same ownership 
at the time of the high-risk erosion area designation. 

Park:  A parcel of land, building or structure used for recreational purposes including but 
not limited to playgrounds, sport fields, game courts, beaches, trails, picnicking areas, 
and leisure time activities. 

Parking Spaces:  An area of definite length and width used for the parking of a motor 
vehicle.  Said area shall be exclusive of drives, aisles, or entrances giving access 
thereto, and shall be fully accessible for the parking of permitted vehicles. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 42 of 86



Permanent Foundation:  As used in Article XVI, a foundation for a structure that includes 
all frost-free foundations as regulated by the building code as well as concrete block, 
poured concrete, and slabs or other materials used to support the walls of a building, 
even if they do not extend down below the frost free line. 

Permanent Structure:  As used in Article XVI, any one (1) of the following structures that 
is erected, installed, or moved on a parcel of property: 

1.  A residential building. 

2.  A commercial building. 

3.  An industrial building. 

4.  An institutional building. 

5.  A mobile home. 

6.  Accessory and related buildings. 

7.  Septic systems. 

8.  Tile fields. 

9.  Other waste handling facilities. 

A permanent structure shall be considered small if it has a foundation size of three 
thousand five hundred (3,500) square feet or less and less than five (5) individual living 
units.  All other permanent structures shall be considered large.  The term does not 
include recreational vehicles, travel trailers, or other recreational units.  The term also 
does not include accessory structures, which have less than two hundred and twenty 
five (225) square feet, which are used for picnicking, storing of recreational, or lawn 
equipment, and which are constructed in a manner that facilitates easy removal.  The 
accessory structure shall not have a permanent foundation and shall not be used as a 
residential facility. 

Person:  Means an individual, partnership, association, trust, or corporation, or any other 
legal entity or combination of legal entities. 

 
Personal Service Business - A business or use which provides routine and 
common service to the public including, but not necessarily limited to, barber 
shops, hair salons, dry cleaners, tailors, shoe repair and craftsman, not including 
the sale of products except where incidental to the principal service-oriented use. 

 
Planned Shopping Center – A group of architecturally unified commercial facilities 
and parking on a site that is centrally owned or managed, designed and operated 
as a unit. 

 
Planned Unit Development:  A tract of land or lot, developed under single ownership or 
management as a separate neighborhood or community unit.  The development shall be 
based on an approved site plan, which allows flexibility of design not available under 
normal zoning district requirements.  The plan may contain a mixture of housing types, 
common open space, and other land uses as provided in this Ordinance. 

Plat:  A map of a subdivision of land recorded with the County Register of Deeds 
pursuant to Public Act 288 of 1967, or a prior statute. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 43 of 86



Plot Plan:  A drawing showing the proposed placement of a new building, dwelling 
structure or use, or an addition to a building, structure, or use on a parcel of land.  See 
Section 2102. 

Porch:  A roofed open area, which may be screened, usually attached to or part of and 
with direct access to or from a building.  A porch becomes a room when the enclosed 
space is heated or air-conditioned and when the percentage of window area to wall area 
is less than fifty (50) percent. 

Principal Structure:  As used in Article XVI, the main building on a lot or parcel, including 
but not limited to, residential, commercial, industrial, institutional structures and mobile 
homes.  In the high-risk erosion areas described in this Ordinance, principal structure 
also includes septic systems, tile fields, any on-site waste handling facility, garages and 
any other building designed and intended for permanent use. 

Principal Use:  The primary or predominant use of any lot or parcel of land.   

Private Road:  A private way or means of approach to provide access to two (2) or more 
abutting lots, and which is constructed and maintained by the owner or owners and is 
not dedicated for general public use. 

Professional Service Business  - Businesses of an executive, administrative, or 
professional nature, including but not necessarily limited to, certified public 
accountants,  engineers, chiropractors, dentists, osteopaths, physicians and 
surgeons, podiatrists, chiropodists, architects, veterinarians, attorneys at law, 
physical therapists, and life insurance agents. 

Public Facilities:  Public facilities include, but are not limited to parks, 
administrative offices, fire and police facilities, libraries, museums, 
recreational centers, indoor and outdoor storage areas for materials, public 
equipment and buildings for essential public services (including but not 
limited to electric substations, telephone substations, gas regulator 
stations). Public schools providing K-12 or post high school education are 
not included as public facilities in this Section (see Section 1510.31). 
 

Public Utility:  A person, firm or corporation, municipal department, board or commission, 
duly authorized to furnish and furnishing under federal, State, or municipal regulations to 
the public:  gas, steam, electricity, sewage disposal, communication, telephone, 
telegraph, transportation, or water. 

Sec. 201.17.  “Q”. 
Reserved. 
Sec. 201.18.  “R”. 
Ramp:  A sloping walkway, roadway, or passage used to join and provide a smooth 
transition between two levels of different elevation, including between land and water at 
a boat-launching site. 

Recession Rate:  A quantitative measure of the landward movement of the zone of 
active erosion determined on the basis of the shoreland erosion studies conducted 
under the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, Public Act 451 of 1994, 
Part 323, as amended, and expressed in terms of an annual average rate. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 44 of 86



Recreation Center - A publicly or privately owned business which is open to the 
public where meetings are held, sports are played and activities made available 
for diverse ages and capabilities. 

 

Recreational Unit:  A tent or vehicular-type structure, primarily designed as temporary 
living quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use, which either has its own motive 
power or is mounted on or drawn by another vehicle, which is self, powered.  A tent 
means a collapsible shelter of canvas or other fabric stretched and sustained by poles 
and used for camping outdoors. 

Recreational unit includes but is not limited to the following: 

1.  Travel trailer, which is a vehicular portable structure, mounted on wheels, of 
such a size or weight as not to require special highway movement permits when 
drawn by a vehicle, primarily designed and constructed to provide temporary 
living quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use. 

2.  Camping trailer, which is a vehicular portable structure, mounted on wheels 
and constructed with collapsible partial sidewalls of fabric, plastic, or other pliable 
material which fold for towing by another vehicle and unfold at the campsite to 
provide temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use. 

3.  Motor home, which is a vehicular structure built on a self-propelled motor 
vehicle chassis, primarily designed to provide temporary living quarters for 
recreational, camping, or travel use. 

4.  Truck camper, which is a portable structure built on a self-propelled motor 
vehicle chassis, primarily designed to provide temporary living quarters for 
recreational, camping, or travel use. 

5.  Truck camper, which is a portable structure designed to be loaded onto, or 
affixed to the bed or chassis of a truck, constructed to provide temporary living 
quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use.  Truck campers are of two (2) 
basic types: 

a.  Slide-in camper, which is a portable structure designed to be loaded 
onto and unloaded from the bed of a pickup truck, constructed to provide 
temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use. 

b.  Chassis-mount camper, which is a portable structure designed to be 
mounted on a truck chassis, and constructed to provide temporary living 
quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use. 

6.  Boats, or other recreational units, which have the characteristics of the 
definition of recreational unit but are not listed above. 

 

Recreation Uses - shall include, but need not be limited to, the following: 
 a. Miniature golf. 
 b. Animal racing, go-cart, automobile or motorcycle tracks. 
 c. Amphitheaters. 
 d. Amusement and water parks. 
 e. Airgun or survival games. 
 f. Amusement parks 
 g. Resorts 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 45 of 86



 h. Fairgrounds 
 i. Batting cages 
 j. Ski slope 
 k. Skate board park 
 l. Flea markets 
 m. Uses similar to the above uses 

n. Uses accessory to the above uses, such as refreshment stands, 
retail shops selling items related to the above uses, maintenance buildings, office 
for management functions, spectator seating and service areas, including locker 
rooms and rest rooms. 
 

Repair:  The reconstruction or renewal of any part of an existing building for the purpose 
of maintenance. 

Required Setback Distance:  As used in Article XVI, the least distance a permanent 
structure can be constructed from the bluffline without a special exception. 

Residence Hotel:  A building, or part of a building, with a common entrance or entrances, 
in which rooms are rented primarily for long term occupancy, and in which one or more 
of the following services are offered: maid service, furnishing of linen, telephone, 
secretarial or desk service, bellboy service and meals in a common eating area.  A 
residence hotel may include a restaurant, or cocktail lounge, public banquet halls, 
ballrooms or meeting rooms and recreational facilities.  A residence hotel is a type of 
hotel.   

Resort:  A place of typically seasonal entertainment, recreation, and/or lodging.  Resort 
lodging, if provided, may include hotels, motels, single or multiple-family residential 
dwelling units, cottages, campgrounds, bed and breakfasts, or some combination, as 
regulated by appropriate sections of this Ordinance. 

Restaurant:  An establishment where food is prepared and served for consumption 
within the principal building, with or without carry-out services. 

Restoration:  The reconstruction or replication of an existing building’s original 
architectural features. 

Retail Businesses – Businesses selling goods or commodities in small quantities 
directly to consumers. This definition does not include wholesale distributors.  

Right-of-Way:  A street, alley, or other thoroughfare or easement permanently 
established for passage of persons, vehicles, or the location of utilities.  The right-of-way 
is delineated by legally established lines or boundaries.  

Sec. 201.19.  “S”. 
Satellite Antenna:  See definition in Section 1729.1. 

Seasonal Mobile Home Park:  A parcel or tract of land under the control of a person 
upon which three (3) or more mobile homes are located on a continual or temporary 
basis but occupied on a temporary basis only, and which is offered to the public for that 
purpose regardless of whether a charge is made therefore, together with any building, 
enclosure, street, equipment, or facility used or intended for use incident to the 
occupancy of a mobile home.  Seasonal mobile home park does not include a 
campground licensed pursuant to sections 12501 to 12516 of the public health code, Act 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 46 of 86



No. 368 of the Public Acts of 1978, being sections 333.12501 to 333.12516 of the 
Michigan Compiled Laws. 

Setback:  The distance required to obtain minimum front, side or rear yard open space 
provisions of this Ordinance. 

Setback Line:  As used in Article XVI, the line which is the required setback distance 
landward of the bluffline and which is the lakeward limit for the construction of 
permanent structures without a special exception. 

Screen:  A structure providing enclosure, such as a fence, and a visual barrier between 
the area enclosed and the adjacent property.  A screen may also be non-structural, 
consisting of shrubs or other growing materials. 

Shoreland:  The land, water and land beneath the water, which is in close proximity to 
the shoreline of Lake Michigan. 

Shoreline:  That area of shorelands where land and water meet. 

Shore Protection Structure:  Any structural or physical method used to control shoreland 
erosion processes.  Shore protection structures include, but are not limited to, structures 
such as seawalls, revetments or bulkheads, and may also include any type of beach 
nourishment by filling. 

Sign:  A device, structure, fixture, or placard using graphics, symbols, and/or written 
copy designed specifically for the purpose of advertising or identifying an establishment, 
product, service, or activity.  Definitions of specific types of signs are found in Section 
2001. 

Site Condominium Subdivision:  Means a condominium subdivision which includes units 
with building envelopes or which grants the owner the right to construct a structure. 

Site Plan:  A plan showing all salient features of a proposed development, so that it may 
be evaluated in order to determine whether it meets the provisions of this Ordinance.  A 
plot plan depicts a subset of the information required by this Ordinance for a site plan 
(see Article XIV). 

Special Land Use:  A use of land whose characteristics may create a nuisance or 
nuisance-like impacts on adjoining lands unless carefully sited according to standards 
established in this Ordinance (see Article XV).  Approval for establishing a special land 
use is indicated by issuance of a Special Use Permit. 

Special Use Permit:  A permit issued by the City Planning Commission to a person or 
persons intending to undertake the operation of an activity upon land or within a 
structure specifically permitted as a special land use pursuant to standards and 
procedures established in Article XV. 

Stop Work Order:  An administrative order, which is either posted on the property or 
mailed or personally delivered to the property owner, which directs a person not to 
continue, or not to allow the continuation of an activity, which is in violation of this 
Ordinance. 

Story:  That part of a building, except a mezzanine as defined herein included between 
the surface of one floor and the surface of the next floor, or if there is no floor above, 
then the ceiling next above.  A basement shall not be counted as a story (see Figure 2-
1). 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 47 of 86



Story, Half:  An uppermost story lying under a sloping roof with the floor height at or 
above the level of the roof eave. 

Street:  A publicly owned and dedicated right-of-way, other than an alley, or an 
approved private road or easement, which affords the principal means of access to 
abutting property. 

Structure:  Anything fabricated, constructed or erected, the use of which requires fixation 
or placement in, on or attachment to something having location on the ground including 
but not limited to all buildings, independently supported decks, satellite dishes and free-
standing signs; excepting anything lawfully in a public right-of-way including but not 
limited to utility poles, sewage pumping stations, utility manholes, fire hydrants, electric 
transformers, telephone boxes, and related public facilities and utilities defined as 
essential public services. 

Subdivision:  The division of a lot, tract, or parcel of land into more lots for the purpose of 
sale or development, and subject to the requirements of Public Act 288 of 1967, as 
amended, this Ordinance and the requirements of Chapter 78 of the Code of Ordinances 
of the City of South Haven. 

Substandard Lot or Parcel:  Also known as “nonconforming” lot or parcel.  A lot or parcel 
of record or a lot or parcel which is described in a land contract or deed that is executed 
and delivered before the designation of a high risk erosion area and which does not 
have adequate depth to provide the required setback distance from the bluffline for a 
permanent structure.  The term also means those lots which are legally created after the 
designation of a high-risk erosion area and which have sufficient depth to meet setback 
requirements for permanent structures, but which subsequently become substandard 
due to erosion processes or become substandard due to a change in the required 
setback distance. 

Swimming Pool:  Means any structure or container located either above or below grade 
designed to hold water to a depth of greater than twenty-four (24) inches, intended for 
swimming or bathing.  

Sec. 201.20.  “T”. 
Temporary Dwelling Unit:  A dwelling unit occupied continuously for less than six (6) 
months of the year, or a dwelling unit occupied intermittently for less than fifteen (15) 
days of each month.  A dwelling unit, which is occupied more than one hundred-eighty 
(180) days per year, is not a temporary dwelling unit.  A dwelling unit used to gain 
residency, as a mailing address, or for a homestead tax exemption is not a temporary 
dwelling unit. 

Temporary Use or Building:  A use, building, or structure permitted by procedures 
established in this Ordinance, to exist during a specified period of time. 

Traffic Impact Study:  This and various terms related to this one are defined in Section 
1737.2 including the following: development, average day, gap (critical gap), level of 
service, peak hour, study area, traffic impact study, trip (i.e. directional trip). 

Travel Trailer:  A recreational unit designed to be used for temporary residence 
purposes.  

Sec. 201.21.  “U”. 
Underground Storage Tank:  A tank or combination of tanks, including underground 
pipes connected to the tank or tanks, which is, was, or may have been used to contain 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 48 of 86



hazardous substances, and the volume of which, including the volume of the 
underground pipes connected to the tank or tanks, is ten percent (10%) or more beneath 
the surface of the ground. 

Use:  The principal purpose for which land or a building is arranged, designed, or 
intended, or for which land or a building is or may be occupied.  

Sec. 201.22.  “V”. 
Variance:  A modification of the literal provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, granted by the 
Zoning Board of Appeals, when standards established in Article XXII of this Ordinance 
have been met. 

These standards seek to ensure that no variance is granted unless: (a) strict 
enforcement of the Zoning Ordinance would cause practical difficulty or unnecessary 
hardship, (b) would not be contrary to the public interest, (c) there are circumstances 
unique to the individual property on which the variance is granted, and (d) the variance 
request is not due to actions of the applicant. 

Vicious Animal:  Any animal that attacks, bites, or injures human beings or domesticated 
animals without adequate provocation, or which because of temperament, conditioning, 
or training, has a known propensity to attack, bite, or injure human beings or 
domesticated animals.  (See Section 1739.)  

Sec. 201.23.  “W”. 
Wall, Obscuring:  A structure of definite height and location to serve as an obscuring 
screen in carrying out the requirements of this Ordinance. 

Water Based Business:  Any business in which the proprietor, employee(s) or 
customer(s) physically board a ship, boat, barge or vessel at a marine terminal, 
including, but not limited to dinner boats, charter boats, passenger service, boat tours, 
watercraft rentals, and commercial fisheries. 

Wild Animal:  Any living member of the animal kingdom, including those born or raised in 
captivity, except the following: human beings, domestic dogs (excluding hybrids with 
wolves, coyotes, or jackals), domestic cats (excluding hybrids with ocelots or margays), 
rodents, any hybrid animal that is part wild, and captive-bred species of common cage 
birds.  (See Section 1739.)  

Sec. 201.24.  “X”. 
Reserved. 
Sec. 201.25.  “Y”. 
Yards:  The open spaces on the same lot with a main building unoccupied and 
unobstructed from the ground upward, except as otherwise provided in this Ordinance 
and as defined herein (see Figure 2-7): 

1.  Front Yard:  An open space extending the full width of the lot, the depth of 
which is the minimum horizontal distance between the front lot line and the 
nearest wall of the main building.  (Amended 1/17/85; Ord. No. 663)   

2.  Rear Yard:  An open space extending the full width of the lot, the depth of 
which is the minimum horizontal distance between the rear lot line and the 
nearest wall of the main building.  In the case of a corner lot, the rear yard may 
be opposite either street frontage.  In the case of a waterfront lot, the rear yard 
shall be defined by the minimum horizontal distance between the nearest wall of 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 49 of 86



the main building and the 100 year Flood Elevation line established by the Flood 
Insurance Rate Map promulgated by the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency as referenced within Section 1613. 

3.  Side Yard:  An open space between a main building and the side lot line, 
extending from the front yard to the rear yard, the width of which is the horizontal 
distance from the nearest point on the side lot line to the nearest wall of the main 
building.  

 

Sec. 201.26.  “Z”. 
Zone of Active Erosion:  The area of the shoreland where the disturbance or loss of soil 
and substrate has occurred with sufficient frequency to cause unstable slopes or prevent 
vegetation of the area. 

Zoning Administrator:  The City of South Haven Zoning Administrator hired for the 
purpose of carrying out certain duties and responsibilities as defined in this Ordinance. 

Zoning Board of Appeals:  The body appointed by the City Council to hear appeals by 
any aggrieved party by a decision or order of the Zoning Administrator, or where it is 
alleged that the literal enforcement of this Ordinance would involve practical difficulties 
or would cause unnecessary hardship to the property owner. 

Zoning Permit:  A document signed by the Zoning Administrator according to procedures 
established in this Ordinance, as a condition precedent to the commencement of a use, or the 
erection, construction, reconstruction, restoration, alteration, conversion, or installation of a 
structure or building, that indicates that a site plan, plot plan, and/or other zoning application or 
request for special zoning approval or variance for a use, structure or building has been 
reviewed and determined to comply with the requirements of this Ordinance or 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 50 of 86



 
 
 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 51 of 86



 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 52 of 86



ARTICLE IV 
R-1A, R-1B, AND R-1C SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL  

AND R-2 RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

SECTION 400.  INTENT 
 
The R-1A, R-1B and R-1C Single-Family Residential Districts are designed to preserve the character of 
the single-family residential neighborhoods in the City from intrusion by incompatible land uses.  R-1A 
districts are typically areas of the City originally platted as 50 foot wide lots, and the setback regulations 
are designed to permit development similar to the character of existing land uses.  R-1B districts are 
made up of areas of the City where there are typically larger lots than 50 feet in width, with 66 feet as a 
typical lot width.  R-1C districts are cottage districts which typically have smaller lots than 50 feet in width 
and have dense development.  In all of these districts, it is the intent of this ordinance to allow 
development which fits the existing characteristics and patterns of development.   
 
SECTION 401.  R-1A, R-1B AND R-1C  USE REGULATIONS 
 
Land, buildings and structures in the R-1 zoning district may be used for the following purposes only: 
1. One-family detached dwellings. 
 
2. Two-family dwellings which were erected prior to the effective date of the amendment which 

added this provision. Thereafter, no new two-family dwellings, or conversions to two-family 
dwellings are permitted in this district. 

 
3. Farms in existence on the effective date of this Ordinance are allowed by right, all others by 

special use permit (see Section 1510.12.) 
 
4.    Publicly owned and operated libraries, parks, recreational facilities, and municipal parking lots by 

special use permit. 
 
5.    Cemeteries which lawfully occupied land in this district at the time of adoption of this Ordinance. 
 
6.    Churches and other facilities normally incidental thereto when authorized as a special land use.  

In considering such authorization, the Planning Commission shall ensure compliance with the 
standards in Article XV: 

 
7. Public, charter, parochial and private schools offering courses in general education, when 

authorized as a special land use by the Planning Commission. In considering such authorization, 
the Planning Commission shall ensure compliance with the standards of Article XV. 

 
8. Family day care home with fewer than seven (7) children or adults is permitted. Nursery schools, 

day nurseries and group day care homes for over six (7) children or adults, not including 
dormitories, when authorized by the Planning Commission as a special land use. In considering 
such authorization, the Planning Commission shall ensure compliance with the standards of 
Article XV. 

 
9. Private noncommercial recreation areas, institutional or community recreation centers, nonprofit 

swimming pool clubs when authorized as a special land use by the Planning Commission.  In 
considering such authorization, the Planning Commission shall ensure compliance with Article 
XV. 

 
10. Golf courses when authorized as a planned unit development. In considering such authorization, 

the Planning Commission shall ensure compliance with the standards in Section 1510.15 and 
Article XIII: 

 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 53 of 86



11. Home occupations, as defined in Section 201, and which meet the requirements which follow, are 
not required to obtain a special use permit, all others are only permitted when authorized as a 
special land use by the Planning Commission according to the standards in b., which follow:  
a. No special use permit is required if the home occupation meets the following standards: 

1) No customers or clients visit the property to do business. 
2) No parking of commercial vehicles, equipment or trucks. 
3) No shipping or receiving of merchandise or freight which is obtrusive to 

neighbors. 
4) No storage of material, products, or other business related items in a garage, 

accessory building, or outdoors. 
5) No signage. 
6) No visible evidence of business activity from outside the home. 

b. In considering authorization for a special use permit for a home occupation, the Planning 
Commission shall ensure compliance with the following standards and those in Article 
XV:   
1) Said home occupation shall not exceed ten (10) percent of the gross floor area of 

any floor of the residential structure.   
2) There shall be no alteration in the residential character or function of the premise 

in connection herewith nor shall any garage or parking area be used in 
connection herewith. 

3) An identification sign shall not exceed two (2) square foot in area and shall be 
mounted flush to the main structure. The planning commission may waive this 
size requirement in cases where the dwelling is a considerable distance 
from the street. 

4) The sale of a commodity or stock in trade sold or stored upon the premises shall 
only be incidental to the specific home occupation. 

5) No person not residing on the premises shall be employed in connection with the 
home occupation. 

6) There shall be no equipment or machinery used in connection with a home 
occupation which is industrial in nature. 

7) No home occupation shall be permitted to be established or continued when the 
same is objectionable as determined by the Planning Commission due to noise, 
dust, smoke, odor, vibrations, light, traffic congestion, reduction of the living 
environment, or other impacts detrimental to the neighborhood in which it is 
located. 

 
12. Planned Unit Development which contains the following uses or mix of uses and as regulated in 

Article XIII:   
 a. Single-family dwellings. 
 b. Golf courses, tennis clubs, athletic clubs, and other recreational uses. 
 c. Parks and playgrounds. 
 
13. Accessory buildings and structures customarily incidental to the above permitted uses. 
 
14.  Model homes including sales office(s) are permitted in subdivisions, condominium developments 

and planned unit developments and shall comply with the following standards: 
a. The model home shall be used solely as a sales and promotion office for the development in 

which the home is located.  The model home shall not be used to conduct other business, or 
as a model home to promote sales in other developments.   

b. The model home requires a temporary zoning permit.  The Zoning Administrator may issue 
temporary zoning permits for up to either three (3) model homes or a number equal to one 
(1%) percent of the total number of units within the development, whichever is less, with a 
minimum of one (1) model home permitted per development.  Temporary zoning permits shall 
not be issued until roads, water supply, sewage disposal, storm drainage, and other utilities 
and infrastructure to service the site used for the model home(s) are completed and 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 54 of 86



determined to be acceptable for use.  Certificates of occupancy for model homes shall be 
limited to model and sales office purposes only and not for habitation.  

c. The model home must be located within the boundaries of the approved development and 
must comply with all requirements, conditions and stipulations of the development approval, 
zoning ordinance, and other city, county, state and federal regulations which may apply.   

d. The model home shall be maintained to appear as a home at all times. 
e. Use of the model home for sales and promotion shall cease as soon as fifty (50%) percent of 

the lots, condominiums, or units are sold or leased, or within two (2) years of the home’s 
occupancy as a model home, whichever occurs first, whereupon the model home shall be 
offered for sale. 

f. One (1) identification sign shall be permitted subject to the following regulations 
1) The sign shall not exceed six (6) square feet in area 
2) The sign shall be mounted to the structure or freestanding within five (5) 

feet of the building 
3) If freestanding the sign may be no more than six (6) feet in height 
4) The sign may not be illuminated 

 
SECTION 402.  R-1A AREA REQUIREMENTS 
 
No building or structure, nor the enlargement of any building or structure, shall be hereafter erected 
unless the following yards, lot area, and building coverage requirements are provided and maintained in 
connection with such building, structure, or enlargement. 
 
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than fifteen (15) feet, or the average of the 

front setbacks of the two principle structures on the properties directly adjacent to and fronting on 
the same right-of-way as the property in question, except that the front setback shall not be less 
than 10 feet when calculated as an average of the adjacent structure setbacks.  If the adjacent 
property is vacant or the property is on a corner lot, fifteen (15) feet shall be used as the amount 
for that side when calculating the average.  (Amended 10/4/03, Ord. 919) 

 
2. Side Yard - There shall be total side yards of fifteen (15) feet, provided that no yard shall be less 

than three (3) feet. 
 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than twenty-five (25) feet. 
 
4. Lot Area and Width - The minimum lot area and width for all uses in this District, unless 

specified elsewhere, shall be five thousand (5000) square feet and fifty (50) feet, respectively. 
 
5. Maximum Lot Area - The lot area covered by all buildings shall not exceed 40%. 
 
SECTION 403.  R-1B AREA REQUIREMENTS 

No building or structure, nor the enlargement of any building or structure, shall be hereafter erected 
unless the following yards, lot area, and building coverage requirements are provided and maintained in 
connection with such building, structure, or enlargement. 
 
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than twenty-five (25) feet, or the average of 

the front setbacks of the two principle structures on the properties directly adjacent to and fronting 
on the same right-of-way as the property in question, except that the front setback shall not be 
less than 10 feet when calculated as an average of the adjacent structure setbacks.  If the 
adjacent property is vacant or the property is on a corner lot, twenty-five (25) feet shall be used 
as the amount for that side when calculating the average.  (Amended 10/4/03, Ord. 919) 

 
2. Side Yard - There shall be total side yards of twenty (20) feet, provided that no yard shall be less 

than eight (8) feet. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 55 of 86



 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than twenty-five (25) feet. 
 
4. Lot Area and Width - The minimum lot area and width for all uses in this District, unless 

specified elsewhere, shall be eight thousand four hundred (8,400) square feet and sixty-six (66) 
feet, respectively. Flag lots shall have a minimum of 20 feet of street frontage and shall 
widen to the minimum lot width no more than one hundred (100) feet from the right-of-way. 

 
5. Maximum Lot Area - The lot area covered by all buildings shall not exceed 35%. 

 
SECTION 404.  R-1C AREA REQUIREMENTS 
 
No building or structure, nor the enlargement of any building or structure, shall be hereafter erected 
unless the following yards, lot area, and building coverage requirements are provided and maintained in 
connection with such building, structure, or enlargement. 
 
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than three (3) feet. 
 
2. Side Yard - There shall be side yards of no less than three (3) feet in width.  
 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than three (3) feet. 
 
4. Lot Area and Width - The minimum lot area and width for all uses in this District, unless 

specified elsewhere, shall be two thousand one hundred seventy eight (2,178) square feet and 
thirty three (33) feet, respectively. 

 
SECTION 405.  R-1A, R-1B AND R-1C HEIGHT REGULATIONS 
 
No building shall exceed thirty (30) thirty-five feet and two and one-half (2 1/2) stories in height (see the 
definition of “Height (Building)”), also, no building shall exceed forty (40) feet from the average grade to 
the highest point of the roof surface.  The highest point of a cupola, widows watch, tower or similar 
feature that extends above the roof line shall be considered the highest point of the roof surface on roofs 
with such features. Flat roofs and mansard roofs shall be no greater than 25 feet at the eave lines. 
 
SECTION 406.  R-2 USE REGULATIONS 
 
Land, buildings and structures in the R-2 District may be used for the following purposes only: 
 
1. All uses as permitted and regulated in the R-1 Residential District, provided that any time more 

than two (2) one-family dwellings are proposed, the requirements of Article XIII shall be met. 
 
2. Two-family dwellings, provided that any time more than one duplex is proposed, the requirements 

of Article XIII shall be met. 
 
3. Planned Unit Development which contains the following uses or mix of uses and as regulated in 

Article XIII: 
a. Single-family attached and detached dwelling units that conform with the standards of 

Section 501(2). 
b. Two-family dwellings. 
c. Golf courses, tennis clubs, athletic clubs and other recreational uses. 
d. Parks, playgrounds and other open space. 

 
4. Accessory buildings and structures customarily incidental to the above permitted uses. 
 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 56 of 86



 
 
 
SECTION 407.  R-2 AREA REQUIREMENTS 
 
No building or structure, nor the enlargement of any building or structure, shall be hereafter erected 
unless the following yards, lot area, and building coverage requirements are provided and maintained in 
connection with such building, structure, or enlargement. 
 
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than twenty-five (25) feet. 
 
2. Side Yard - There shall be total side yards of twenty (20) feet, provided that no yard shall be less 

than eight (8) feet. 
 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than twenty-five (25) feet. 
 
4. Lot Area and Width - The minimum lot area and width for all uses in this District, unless 

specified elsewhere, shall be eight thousand four hundred (8,400) square feet and sixty-six (66) 
feet, respectively. Where no lots are created, the maximum density of dwelling units on the site 
shall not exceed that permitted by this standard if there were individual dwelling units on 
individual lots. 

 
5. Maximum Lot Area - The lot area covered by all buildings shall not exceed 35%. 
 
SECTION 408.  R-2 HEIGHT REGULATIONS 
 
No building shall exceed thirty (30) thirty-five (35) feet and two and one-half (2 ½) stories in height 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 57 of 86



ARTICLE VI 
CBD CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT 

 
 
SECTION 600.  INTENT 
 
The CBD Central Business District is intended to permit those uses which provide for a variety of retail 
stores and related activities, and for office buildings and service establishments which occupy the prime 
frontages in the Central Business District and which serve the consumer population beyond the corporate 
boundaries of the city.  The district regulations are designed to promote convenient pedestrian shopping 
and the stability of retail development by encouraging a continuous retail frontage and by prohibiting 
automotive related services and nonretail uses which tend to break up such continuity. Residential use of 
floors above the ground floor is encouraged as compatible with nonresidential uses in this District, 
provided the standards herein are conformed with. 
 
SECTION 601. USE REGULATIONS 
 
In a CBD Central Business District, no building or land shall be used and no building shall be erected 
except for one or more of the following specified uses, unless otherwise provided in this Ordinance. 
1. Any generally recognized retail business which supplies commodities on the premises within a 

completely enclosed building.  such as, but not limited to, foods, groceries, drugs, liquor, furniture, 
appliances, TV, radio and other electronic devices, variety store, clothing, dry goods, notions, 
candy, books, florist, gift shops, jewelry, stationary, office supplies, paint and wallpaper, parcel 
delivery, or hardware.   

 
2. Any personal service establishment which performs services on the premises within a completely 

enclosed building.  such as, but not limited to, repair shops (watches, radio, television, shoe and 
etc.), tailor shops, beauty parlors, barber shops, interior decorators, photographers, travel 
agencies, and dry cleaners. 

 
3. Restaurants delicatessens, ice cream store, soda fountain, and carry-out food establishments, 

excluding drive-ins. Outdoor cafes and outdoor seating is permitted by special use permit. 
 
4. Professional Service Businesses Offices and office buildings of an executive, administrative, or 

professional nature; including medical, dental and optical clinics. 
 
5. Banks, loan and finance offices. Banks with drive-in facilities are permitted by special use permit, 

when said drive-in facilities are incidental to the principal function. 
 
6. Public and quasi-public buildings, such as: 
 a. Municipal offices 
 b. Municipal off-street parking lots by special use permit 
 c. Libraries 
 d. Museums 
 e. Fraternal organizations 
 
7. Indoor Recreation Centers Commercial recreation facilities, such as bowling alleys, theaters, 

and similar uses. Public parks and public recreation centers by special land use permit. 
 
8. Offices and showrooms of plumbers, electricians, decorators, or similar trades, of which not more 

than twenty-five (25) percent of the floor area of the building or part of the building occupied by 
said establishment is used for making, assembling, remodeling, repairing, altering, furnishing, or 
refinishing its products or merchandise, and provided that the ground floor premises facing upon, 
and visible from, any abutting street shall be used only for entrances, offices or display.  All 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 58 of 86



storage of materials on any land shall be within the confines of the building or part thereof 
occupied by said establishment. 

 
9. Business schools or private schools operating for profit; examples of private schools permitted 

herein include, but are not limited to, the following:  trade schools, dance schools, music and 
voice schools, and art studios. Schools providing K-12 education are not included as permitted 
uses in this District. 

 
10. Newspaper offices and printing plants; provided the printing plant is not greater than twenty-five 

hundred (2500) square feet. 
 
11. Storage facilities when incident to, and physically connected with, any principal use permitted, 

provided that such facility be within the confines of the building or part thereof occupied by said 
establishment. 

 
12. Hotels and motels when authorized as a special land use. (See Section 1510.22 and Section 

1738) (Amended 8/21/06, Ord. 946.) 
 
13.  Bus passenger stations. 
 
14. Other uses which are similar to the above when authorized as a special land use.  In considering 

such authorization, the Planning Commission shall consider the following standards and Article 
XV: 
a. All business establishments shall be retail or service establishments dealing directly with 

consumers.  All goods produced on the premises shall be sold at retail from premises 
where produced. 

 b.  Outdoor storage of merchandise, products, parts or supplies shall be expressly 
prohibited. Excluded from this provision is the outdoor display of goods for sale as 
authorized by the City of South Haven Code of Ordinances, Section 74-3. 

 
15. Accessory structures customarily incidental to the above permitted uses. 
 
16. Dwellings located above a permitted use when authorized as a special land use.  In considering 

such authorization, the Planning Commission shall ensure conformance with the following 
standards and Article XV: 

 a. Ingress and egress to the dwelling unit; 
b. The availability of parking for tenants and guests. One (1) dwelling unit per lot is allowed 

above any permitted use without providing any parking space, while additional units 
require two (2) spaces per unit; and, 

 c. The impact on the building's exterior. 
 
17. Automatic teller machines when located inside a building as an accessory use and not as a 

freestanding building. 
 
18. Farmer’s markets, art fairs and other outdoor events open to the public as permitted by 

the City Council. 
 
18. Convenience store. 
 
19. Pool or billiard hall. 
 
20. Antique shops. 
 
21. Bakery goods stores. 
22. Private clubs by special use permit. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 59 of 86



23. Multiple-family dwellings, including multiple-family dwellings with units on the ground floor and 
above the ground floor, when authorized as a special land use.  In considering such 
authorization, the Planning Commission shall ensure conformance with the following standards 
and Article XV: 
a. The parcel shall not have frontage on the Phoenix Street, Center Street or Broadway 

Avenue right-of-ways; and, 
b. Two (2) parking spaces shall be provided per dwelling unit, either on-site or within 300 

feet of the parcel. 
 
SECTION  602.  REQUIRED CONDITIONS 
 
The outdoor display or sale of goods or merchandise shall not extend more than three (3) feet beyond the 
front lot line, provided the sidewalk is ten (10) feet wide or greater.  If the sidewalk is less than ten (10) 
feet in width, goods or merchandise shall not be displayed outdoors.  During special sidewalk sale days, 
as determined by the City Manager, goods or merchandise may be displayed outdoors in a reasonable 
fashion. 
 
SECTION  603.  AREA REGULATIONS 
 
No building or structure, nor the enlargement of any building or structure, shall be hereafter erected 
unless the following yards, lot area, and building coverage requirements are provided and maintained in 
connection with such building, structure, or enlargement. 
 
1. Front yard - No minimum required.   
 
2. Side Yard - No side yard is required; where a side yard is provided, it shall be at least ten (10) 

feet in width.   
 
3. Rear Yard - No rear yard is required where the Planning Commission determines that the Site 

Plan adequately insures no present or future building will be adversely affected. 
 
4.  Lot Area and Width - No minimum required.   
 
5. Site Plan - A Site Plan is required for all structures, additions and parking areas. 
 
SECTION  604.  HEIGHT REGULATIONS 
 
No building shall exceed forty-five (45) feet and three and one half (3-1/2) stories in height. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 60 of 86



ARTICLE VII 
B-1 NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS DISTRICT 

 
SECTION 700.  INTENT 
 
The Neighborhood Business District is for neighborhood convenience shopping, including retail business 
or service establishments which supply commodities or perform services which meet the daily needs of 
the neighborhood. Businesses in this zone are scaled to be compatible with the neighborhood 
character. 
 
SECTION  701.  USE REGULATIONS 
 
Land, buildings or structures in this zoning district may be used for the following purposes only, subject to 
the review and approval of a site plan by the Planning Commission: 
 
1. Those non-residential uses which are permitted in the residential zoning districts, subject, except 

as specifically provided otherwise in this Article, to the same conditions, restrictions and 
requirements as are provided in the residential zoning districts. 

 
2. Personal Service Businesses not exceeding 2500 square feet in floor area 
 
3. Automatic teller machines when inside a building and accessory to another use. 
 
4. Retail Businesses not exceeding 2500 square feet in floor area or as provided elsewhere in 

this section. This size limit does not apply to existing structures. 
 
5. Professional Service Businesses not exceeding 2500 square feet in floor area. This size 

limit does not apply to existing structures. 
 
3. Bakery goods store. 
 
4. Barber or beauty shop. 
 
5. Book and stationary stores. 
 
6. Candy store, soda fountain and/or ice cream store. 
 
7. Clothes cleaning and/or laundry pickup station. 
 
8. Convenience stores not exceeding 2500 square feet in floor area. 
 
9. Delicatessen store. 
 
10. Dwelling located above a permitted use when authorized as a special land use per the standards 

in Section 601.16. 
 
11. Home occupations are permitted in any building designed and built as a dwelling unit. 
 
12. Laundromats. 
 
13. Recreation center by special use permit. 
 
15. Shoe repair shop. 
 
16. Tailor and/or dress maker. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 61 of 86



 
17. Other similar retail business or service establishments which supply convenience commodities or 

perform services primarily for residents of the surrounding neighborhood when authorized by the 
Planning Commission as a special land use.  In considering such authorization, the Planning 
Commission shall ensure conformance with the following standards and those of Article XV: 

 a. The size, nature and character of the proposed use fit the scale and character of abutting 
properties. 

 b. The proximity of the proposed use to adjoining properties does not create unreasonable 
negative impacts on the use and enjoyment of nearby residential properties. 

 c. The parking facilities provided for the proposed use are safe, adequately sized and 
conveniently located. 

d. Any traffic congestion or hazard which will be occasioned by the proposed use can be 
adequately mitigated.   

e. The design of the proposed use harmonizes, blends with, and enhances adjoining 
properties and the surrounding neighborhood.   

f. There is a demonstrated need for the proposed use to service the needs of the 
surrounding neighborhood. 

 
18. Accessory buildings and structures customarily incidental to the above permitted uses. 
 
SECTION 702.  REQUIRED CONDITIONS 
 
1. The outdoor storage of goods or materials shall be prohibited. 
 
2. Warehousing or indoor storage of goods or materials beyond that normally incidental to the above 

permitted uses shall be prohibited. 
 

3. Screening - Side yards and rear yards adjoining any residential zoning district shall be screened 
by one of the following with the selection of the option by the Planning Commission after 
consulting with neighbors: 1) by a compact hedge of deciduous or evergreen trees which reach a 
minimum of five (5) feet in height and five (5) feet in width after one growing season, or 2) a solid 
wall or tight board fence or a privacy fence (which allows air to flow through) six (6) feet in height, 
or 3) if the provisions in Section 1709, 1713, or 1714 are more restrictive in an individual case, 
then the provisions of whichever section the Planning Commission believes will best protect 
abutting properties. 

 
4. No individual commercial building on an individual lot shall exceed fifteen hundred (1500) square 

feet on a single floor unless the Planning Commission approves it as a special land use pursuant 
to the standards in Section 1502. 

 
5. The minimum setback of any parking area, including drives within said parking area, from any 

property line or right-of-way shall be at least five (5) feet.  All setback areas required by this 
paragraph must be landscaped. 

 
SECTION 703.  AREA REGULATIONS 
 
No building or structure, nor the enlargement of any building or structure, shall be hereafter erected 
unless the following yards, lot area, and building coverage requirements are provided and maintained in 
connection with such building, structure, or enlargement: 
 
1.  Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than ten (10) feet. 
 
2. Side Yard -Each side yard shall be at least ten (10) feet in width. 
 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than twenty (20) feet. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 62 of 86



 
4. Lot Area and Width - No minimum required. 
 
5. Site Plan - A Site Plan is required for all structures, additions, and parking areas. 
 
SECTION 704.  HEIGHT REGULATIONS 
No building shall exceed thirty-five (35) feet and two and one half (2-1/2) stories in height.      

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 63 of 86



ARTICLE VIII 
B-2 GENERAL BUSINESS DISTRICT  

 
 
SECTION  800.  INTENT 
 
The General Business District is designed to cater to the needs of a larger consumer population than is 
served by the Neighborhood Business District, and is generally characterized by an integrated or planned 
cluster of establishments served by a common parking area and generating large volumes of vehicular 
and pedestrian traffic. Businesses of a larger size than in the B-1 zone are permitted where stated. 
 
SECTION  801.  USE REGULATIONS 
 
Land, buildings or structures in this zoning district may be used for the following purposes only, subject to 
the review and approval of a site plan by the Planning Commission: 
 
1. All uses permitted in the B-1 zoning district.   
 
2. Amusement enterprises.   
 
3. Personal Service Businesses not exceeding 5000 square feet in floor area. This size limit 

does not apply to existing structures.  
 
4. Automatic teller machines when inside a building and accessory to another use. 
 
5. Retail Businesses not exceeding 5000 square feet in floor area. This size limit does not 

apply to existing structures. 
 
3. Antique shop, and art studios., provided all articles for sale are displayed or stored within the 

shop.   
 
4. Appliance sales and service.  
 
6. Automobile and other vehicle sales with a special use permit according to Article XV. 
 
7. Automobile repair shop or garage, including major repair operations.   
 
8. Bank, loan and finance offices, including drive-in branches by special use permit.   
 
9. Bowling alley, including bars and restaurant.   
 
10. Bus station and travel agency.   
 
11. Business or trade school, music and voice schools by special use permit.   
 
12. Car wash by special use permit.   
 
13. Catering service, delicatessen and confectionery store.   
 
14. Churches and temples by special use permit. 
 
15. Clinic - dental and medical, including laboratory.   
 
16. Dance studio and photographic studio.   
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 64 of 86



17. Day nurseries, nursery schools and other group day care by special use permit per the standards 
of Section 1510.17 

 
18. Decorator, interior shops. 
 
19. Dry cleaning and laundry - custom and self-service, provided it is not larger than two thousand 

five-hundred (2,500) square feet.   
 
20. Electrical supplies - wholesale and storage.   
 
21. Exterminator service.   
 
22. Floor coverings, sales and storage. 
 
23. Florist and gift shop, including nursery  
 
24. Funeral home and ambulance service.   
 
25. Garden centers not exceeding 10,000 square feet by special use permit. 
 
26. Gasoline service stations by special use permit.   
 
27. Hotels and motels when authorized as a special land use (see Section 1510.22 and Section 

1738).   
 
28. Interior decorator shops. 
 
29. Juke box and vending machine service and distribution.   
 
30. Laboratory - medical or dental, provided it is not larger than two thousand five-hundred (2,500) 

square feet.   
 
31. Libraries, museums, other municipal offices and municipal facilities. 
 
32. Liquor store.   
 
33. Locksmiths.   
 
34. Lodge hall, private clubs, veterans' clubs.   Private clubs  
 
35. Malt beverage, liquor and wine distribution and sales.   
 
36. Marinas.   
 
37. Miniature or Par 3 golf course. 
 
38. Offices   
 
39. Office machines sales and service.   
 
40. Office supply store.   
 
41. Parcel delivery station.   
 
42. Parking lots by special use permit. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 65 of 86



 
43. Pet shop, not including treatment or boarding of animals.   
 
44. Pool or billiard hall. 
 
45. Newspaper printing and offices, printing and publishing, including processes related thereto, 

provided the facility is not larger than two thousand five-hundred (2,500) square feet.   
 
46. Professional studio.   
 
47. Plumbing and heating, and electrical shops, provided all operations and storage are completely 

enclosed in a building.   
 
48. Radio and TV sales.   
 
49. Recreation centers (Outdoor) and municipal recreation facilities by special use permit. 
 
50. Resale shops, including "auction houses".   
 
51. Restaurant - cafe, bar, grill and cocktail lounge, including "drive-in" or “drive through”. 

Restaurants with outdoor seating shall be permitted with a special use permit from the 
planning commission.   

 
52. Shoe repair.   
 
53. Sign painting and servicing shops, provided all operations and storage are completely enclosed in 

a building.   
 
54. Special tools and gauges - checking and service.   
 
55. Taxidermist.   
 
56. Theater.   
 
57. Travel agencies.   
 
58. Video stores. 
 
59. Other similar retail business or service establishments when authorized by the Planning 

Commission as a special land use.  In considering such authorization, the Planning Commission 
shall ensure the following standards and those of Article XV are met: 

 a. The size, nature and character of the proposed use fits the scale and character of 
abutting properties. 

 b. The proximity of the proposed use to adjoining properties does not create unreasonable 
negative impacts on the use and enjoyment of nearby residential properties. 

 c. The parking facilities provided for the proposed use are safe, adequately sized and 
conveniently located. 

d. Any traffic congestion or hazard which will be occasioned by the proposed use can be 
adequately mitigated. 

e. The design of the proposed use harmonizes, blends with, and enhances adjoining 
properties and the surrounding neighborhood. 

 
60. Accessory structures and buildings customarily incidental to the above uses. 
 
61. Planned Unit Developments which contain a mix of land uses permitted by right in this district. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 66 of 86



 
 
 
SECTION  802.  REQUIRED CONDITIONS 
 
1. More than two (2) uses on a single lot or parcel are permitted per the Planned Shopping 

Development special land use standards (see Section 1510.27). 
 
2. Any site over two (2) acres shall be processed as a Planned Shopping Development per the 

special land use standards of Section 1510.27. 
 
3. Side yards and rear yards adjoining any residential zoning district shall be screened by one of the 

following with the selection of the option by the Planning Commission: 1) by a compact hedge of 
deciduous or evergreen trees which reach a minimum of five (5) feet in height and five (5) feet in 
width after one growing season, or 2) a solid wall or tight board fence or a privacy fence (which 
allows air to flow through) six (6) feet in height, or 3) if the provisions in Section 1709, 1713 or 
1714 are more restrictive in an individual case, then the provisions of whichever section the 
Planning Commission believes will best protect abutting properties. 

 
4. The minimum setback of any parking area, including drives within said parking area, from any 

property line or right-of-way shall be at least five (5) feet.  All setback areas required by this 
paragraph must be landscaped. 

 
5. The outdoor display or sale of goods or merchandise shall not interfere with any pedestrian or 

vehicular traffic within the parking area or entryway onto the property. Said display or sale shall 
not use any required parking spaces or fire lanes and shall be setback thirty-five (35) feet from 
the front lot line and twenty (20) feet from any side lot line. 

 
SECTION  803.  AREA REGULATIONS   
 
No building or structure, nor the enlargement of any building or structure, shall be hereafter erected 
unless the following yards, lot area, and building coverage requirements are provided and maintained in 
connection with such building, structure, or enlargement: 
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than twenty-five (25) feet. 
 
2. Side Yard - There shall be a side yard of no less than ten (10) feet in width. 
 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than twenty (20) feet. 
 
4.  Lot Area and Width - No minimum required. 
 
5. Site Plan - A Site Plan is required for all structures, additions and parking areas. 
 
SECTION  804.  HEIGHT REGULATIONS   
 
No building shall exceed thirty-five (35) feet and two and one half (2-1/2) stories in height. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 67 of 86



ARTICLE IX 
B-3  WATERFRONT BUSINESS DISTRICT 

 
 

SECTION  900.  INTENT 
 
The Waterfront Business District is designed to provide a location for diversified businesses having an 
orientation toward tourism, resort and water-related activities when in accord with the goals and 
objectives of the Comprehensive Plan for the City of South Haven. 
 
SECTION  901.  USE REGULATIONS 
 
Land, buildings or structures in this zoning district may be used for the following purposes only, subject to 
the review and approval of a site plan by the Planning Commission:   
 
1. Automatic teller machines when inside a building and accessory to another use. 
 
2. Beaches and recreation areas, either municipal or private by special use permit. 
 
3. Boat launching ramp. 
 
4. Campgrounds, subject to compliance with the standards and procedures for establishing a 

Planned Unit Development as regulated in Article XIII. 
a. The minimum size of the campground shall be three (3) acres. 
b. Thirty (30%) percent of the campground shall be dedicated to open space for the 

common use of the residents.  For purposes of calculating the open space percentage, 
areas set aside for common recreational use may be included; driveways and parking 
areas shall be excluded. 

c. There shall be a traffic route which does not pass through a residential area, connecting 
the campground entrance with a public street with a minimum right of way of eighty (80') 
feet in width. 

d. The campsites shall be set back from the property line a minimum distance of thirty (30') 
feet. 

e. A recreational unit may be located at the campground for no more than twenty-one (21) 
consecutive nights.  After five (5) nights out of the campground, the recreational unit may 
return again for no more than twenty-one (21) consecutive nights.  A recreational unit 
shall not be located on the premises of a campground for more than forty-two (42) nights 
in any calendar year.  Storage of recreational units for more than twenty-one (21) days is 
not permitted in a campground. 

f. The recreational units (excluding tents) located at the campground shall be validly 
licensed as vehicles or trailers, and shall at all times be legal for use on roads and 
highways without requiring any special permits.  The maximum allowable trailering width 
of a recreational unit is ninety six (96") inches.  The campground owner shall establish 
the maximum allowable length of a recreational unit based on the available turning radii 
in the campground. 

g. There shall be a security fence surrounding the campground, with a minimum height of 
six (6') feet.  There shall be security gates at the entrances. 

h. Accessory uses and structures are allowed as part of the campground under the 
following conditions: 
1) Allowed uses are convenience store, snack bar, laundromat, or similar uses. 
2) The accessory use is intended for use of occupants of campground only. 
3) The accessory use must be centrally located in the campground, it shall not abut 

or adjoin a public street. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 68 of 86



4)  No signs advertising the accessory use shall face public streets. 
5)  The accessory use shall cease business operation when the campground is 

closed for the season; the accessory use shall only be open for business when 
the campground is operating. 

6)  One structure is allowed to be used as an office. 
7)  One mobile home is allowed in a campground as a caretaker's residence. 

i. Home occupations are not permitted within the campground. 
j. Campgrounds shall be licensed by the State of Michigan, including as required in Act 368 

of 1978, the Public Health Code.  The City may enforce the provisions of the Public 
Health Code. 

k. A Planned Unit Development shall not be licensed as both a campground and a seasonal 
mobile home campground. 

l. The maximum number of sites per acre of total campground area is 12 sites per acre. 
m. The minimum area of each site is one-thousand-three-hundred (1300) square feet. 
n. All driveways and parking areas shall be paved with bituminous or concrete paving.  Two 

paved parking spaces shall be provided for each campsite. 
o. Each entrance and exit to and from the campground shall be located at least twenty-five 

(25') feet distant from adjacent property located in any single-family residential district. 
p. There shall be no vehicle access to the campground except through designated common 

driveways, unless an access for use only by emergency vehicles is approved as a 
condition of development approval. 

q. Screening shall be provided along side yards, rear yards and any part of the parcel which 
abuts a public or private right of way.  Screening shall be maintained in a living condition 
and shall consist of 1) a compact hedge of deciduous or evergreen trees which reach a 
minimum of five (5) feet in height and five (5) feet in width after one growing season; or 2) 
a solid wall or tight board fence six (6) feet in height. 

r. The campground owner or applicant must research and show proof that the campground 
will not overload available roadways, utilities and drainage, including a study which 
estimates peak loads and shows that there is excess capacity in city utilities, streets and 
drainage to service the campground. 

s. The City Fire Marshal may prohibit campfires as part of site plan approval. 
 

5. Convenience store. 
 
6. Dwelling above permitted use according to the standards in Section 601.16. 
 
7. Marinas and marine services, including seasonal boat storage. 
 
8. Miniature or par 3 golf course. Recreation centers (outdoor) by special use permit 
 
9. Motels, hotels or resorts motels or hotels when authorized as a special land use (see Section 

1510.22 and Section 1738).  (Amended 8/21/06, Ord. 946) 
 
10. Parking lots by special use permit. 
 
11. Planned Unit Development which contains a mix of land uses including any use permitted by right 

in this district and one or more of the following land uses according to the requirements of Article 
XVIII:  

 
a. Attached and semi-detached dwelling units including dwellings known as townhouses or 

condominiums, among other names, subject to conformance with the following standards: 
 1. Each dwelling unit shall have one (1) floor at ground level. 

2. No more than four (4) dwelling units shall be attached in any construction group, 
or contained in any single structure, except that where the roof ridge lines and 
building facades of any four (4) consecutive units are staggered or offset by at 
least ten (10) feet, then a maximum of eight (8) units may be permitted.   

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 69 of 86



3. The site plan shall be so planned as to provide ingress and egress directly onto a 
major or minor thoroughfare, except when the Planning Commission finds, upon 
review of the site plan, that ingress and egress directly onto an adjacent minor 
street will not be detrimental to the harmonious development of the adjacent 
properties. 
Where feasible, the Planning Commission may require that ingress-egress to 
parking facilities be provided from adjacent alleys so as to minimize curb cuts 
directly onto the major or minor thoroughfares. 

4. The site plan shall be so planned as to recognize yard and general development 
relationships with adjacent land uses.  The Planning Commission may 
recommend physical features to be provided which will insure harmony in these 
relationships. 

 
b.  Multiple-family dwellings and apartments where not all the units are at ground level.   

 
12. Private clubs, fraternal organizations, lodge halls and convention halls. 
 
13. Recreation centers and facilities by special use permit. 
 
14. Restaurants, lounges or other places serving food or beverage, except those having the 

character of a drive-in. 
 
15. Retail uses businesses 
 
16. Accessory buildings and structures customarily incidental to the above uses. 
 
17. One family detached dwellings by special use permit, subject to the following conditions to be 

demonstrated by the applicant: 

a. The proposed use will be of substantial benefit to the City and the waterfront business 
community. 

b. No other use permitted in this zoning district is possible on the lot due its size or 
configuration. 

c. The inability to use the lot for another use permitted in this zoning district was not the 
result of an action taken after January 1, 2014, by the applicant or any predecessor in 
interest in the property.   

d. Special use permits shall not be granted under this subsection for any lot created by lot 
split occurring after January 1, 2014. 

e. The site plan submitted with the application must satisfy all additional requirements for 
special use permits in Section 1502 of this ordinance. 

 
SECTION  902.  REQUIRED CONDITIONS 
 
1. All dredging, construction and/or development shall be subject to the requirements of all relevant 

codes and ordinances of the City of South Haven, the State of Michigan, and the federal 
government. 

 
2. The flushing or discharge of boat toilets and discarding of waste or refuse from boats in marinas 

into the water is prohibited.  Each marina shall provide suitable, safe and sanitary toilet and 
refuse facilities within buildings designed for this purpose.  No less than one (1) toilet facility shall 
be provided on the site for each fifty (50) boat spaces and not more than one thousand (1,000) 
feet of walking distance from each boat space.  Refuse and garbage containers shall be provided 
and kept in clean and sanitary condition for the use of boat owners within not more than one 
hundred and fifty (150) feet of walking distance of each boat space.  All such facilities shall be 
subject to the approval of the Van Buren County Health Department. 

 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 70 of 86



3. Public launchings permitted in any marina having a public launching ramp shall be limited as 
follows:  The number of public launchings permitted shall be limited to the number of parking 
spaces available to the general public for the parking of vehicles and boat carriers in any such 
marina. 

 
Before any use shall be made of the public launching ramp, a site plan for such ramp and 
attendant facilities shall be submitted to the Planning Commission to determine if all provisions of 
this section have been complied with. 

 
4. All lighting for external illumination of the parking area, buildings, grounds or waters shall be 

directed away from, and shall be shielded from, adjacent residential districts and shielded from 
the sky. 

 
5. Side yards and rear yards adjoining any residential zoning district shall be screened by one of the 

following with the selection of the option by the Planning Commission: 1) by a compact hedge of 
deciduous or evergreen trees which reach a minimum of five (5) feet in height and five (5) feet in 
width after one growing season, or 2) a solid wall or tight board fence or a privacy fence (which 
allows air to flow through) six (6) feet in height, or 3) if the provisions in Section 1709, 1713 or 
1714 are more restrictive in an individual case, then the provisions of whichever section the 
Planning Commission believes will best protect abutting properties. 

 
6. The minimum setback of any parking area, including drives within said parking area, from any 

property line or right-of-way shall be at least five (5) feet.  All setback areas required by this 
paragraph must be landscaped. 

 
SECTION  903.  AREA REGULATIONS 
 
No building or structure, nor the enlargement of any building or structure, shall be hereafter erected 
unless the following yards, lot area, and building coverage requirements are provided and maintained in 
connection with such building, structure, or enlargement:   
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than twenty-five (25) feet. 
 
2. Side Yard - Side yards shall be at least ten (10) feet in width. 
 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than twenty (20) feet. 
 
4. Lot Area and Width - No minimum required. 
 
5. Site Plan - A Site Plan is required for all structures, additions and parking areas. 
 

SECTION  904.  HEIGHT REGULATIONS 
 
No building shall exceed thirty-five (35) feet and two and one half (2-1/2) stories in height. 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 71 of 86



ARTICLE X 
B-4 MAJOR THOROUGHFARE BUSINESS DISTRICT 

 
SECTION 1000.  INTENT   
 
The Major Thoroughfare Business District is designed to permit those uses that provide services  and 
activities typically found along heavily traveled roads and interstate highways.  These uses enjoy a close 
proximity to I-196, Blue Star Memorial Highway or Phoenix Road/County Road 388.  The district 
regulations are designed to promote convenient retail and related uses to serve the residents of South 
Haven as well as providing commercial/retail services for persons traveling along major thoroughfares.  
This district also allows for developments such as planned shopping developments, malls, department 
stores, restaurants, and other retail uses. 
 
SECTION 1001.  USE REGULATIONS   
 
In the B-4 District, no building or land shall be used and no building shall be erected except for one or 
more of the following specified uses, unless otherwise provided in this ordinance:   
 
1. All uses permitted in the B-2 zoning district. 
 
2. Planned Shopping Developments, when authorized by the Planning Commission as a special 

land use.  In considering such authorization, the Planning Commission shall ensure conformance 
with the standards of Article XV: 

 
3. Outdoor theaters, when authorized as a special land use by the Planning Commission. In 

considering such authorization, the Planning Commission shall ensure the standards of Article XV 
are met: 

 
4. Parking lots as a separate use by special use permit. 
 
5. Recreation centers (Indoor and Outdoor) and facilities by special use permit. 

 
6. Adult Entertainment Businesses provided the requirements of Article IV (Site Plan Review) and 

Section 1510.01 (Adult Entertainment Businesses) are met. 
 
7. Accessory buildings and structures customarily incidental to the above uses. 
 
8. Communication Towers by special use permit on property that does not have frontage on a major 

thoroughfare provided the requirements of Section 1709 (Plant Materials & Landscaping 
Requirements) are met.  (Amended 9/2/03, Ord. 923) 

 
SECTION 1002.  REQUIRED CONDITIONS 
 
1. The outdoor display or sale of goods or merchandise shall not interfere with any pedestrian or 

vehicular traffic within the parking area or entryway onto the property. Said display or sale shall 
not use any required parking spaces or fire lanes and shall be setback thirty-five (35) feet from 
the front lot line and twenty (20) feet from any side lot line. 

 
2. Side yards and rear yards adjoining any residential zoning district shall be screened by one of the 

following with the selection of the option by the Planning Commission: 1) by a compact hedge of 
deciduous or evergreen trees which reach a minimum of five (5) feet in height and five (5) feet in 
width after one growing season, or 2) a solid wall or tight board fence or a privacy fence (which 
allows air to flow through) six (6) feet in height, or 3) if the provisions in Section 1709, 1713, or 
1714 are more restrictive in an individual case, then the provisions of whichever section the 
Planning Commission believes will best protect abutting properties. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 72 of 86



 
3. All lighting shall be installed in a manner so that no illumination source is visible beyond all 

property lines and must be directed down and shielded from the sky. 
 
4. No signs shall be placed within a twenty (20) foot setback from any property line and/or right-of-

way. 
 
5. The minimum setback of any parking area, including drives within said parking area, from the 

front or rear property line or right-of-way shall be at least ten (10) feet. The minimum setback of 
any parking area, including drives within said parking area, from the side property line shall be at 
least five (5) feet. If the lot is a corner lot, then the minimum setback from a right-of-way shall be 
ten (10) feet. All setback areas required by this paragraph must be landscaped. 

 
SECTION  1003.  AREA REGULATIONS 

 
No building or structure, nor the enlargement of any building or structure, shall be hereafter erected 
unless the following yards, lot area, and building coverage requirements are provided and maintained in 
connection with such building, structure, or enlargement (unless specified elsewhere in this Article): 
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than thirty-five (35) feet. 
 
2. Side Yard - There shall be a side yard of no less than twenty (20) feet. 
 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than twenty (20) feet. 
 
4. Lot Area and Width - No minimum required. 
 
5. Site Plan - A site plan is required for all structures, additions and parking areas. 
 
6. Spacing - Whenever two (2) or more buildings are built on the same lot, said buildings shall not 

be allowed to be erected closer than twenty (20) feet to one another. 
 

SECTION  1004.  HEIGHT REGULATIONS 
 

No building shall exceed forty-five (45) feet and three and one half (3-1/2) stories in height.

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 73 of 86



ARTICLE XI 
I - 1 LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 

I-1B INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 

AND 
I-2 GENERAL INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 

 
 
SECTION 1100.  INTENT OF THE I-1 DISTRICT 
 
The I-1 Light Industrial District is designed so as to primarily accommodate wholesale activities, 
warehouses and industrial operations whose external, physical effects are restricted to the area of the 
district and in no manner affect, in a detrimental way, any of the surrounding districts.  The I-1 District is 
so structured as to permit, along with any specified uses, the manufacturing, compounding, processing, 
packaging, assembly and/or treatment of finished or semifinished products from previously prepared 
material.  It is further intended that the processing of raw material for shipment in bulk form, to be used in 
an industrial operation at another location, not be permitted.   
 
The general goals of this use district include, among others, the following specific purposes:   
1. To provide sufficient space, in appropriate locations, to meet the needs of the municipality's 

expected future economy for many types of manufacturing and related uses. 
 
2. To protect abutting residential districts by separating them from manufacturing activities and by 

prohibiting the use of such industrial areas for new residential development. 
 
3. To promote manufacturing development which is free from danger of fire, explosions, toxic and 

noxious matter, radiation and other hazards, and from offensive noise, vibration, smoke, odor and 
other nuisances. 

 
4. To protect the most desirable use of land in accordance with a well considered plan. 
 
5. To protect the character and established pattern of adjacent development and, in each area, to 

conserve the value of land and buildings and other structures. 
 
6. To protect the municipality's tax revenue. 
 
SECTION 1101.  USE REGULATIONS 
 
Land, buildings or structures in this zoning district may be used for the following purposes only, subject to 
the review and approval of a site plan by the Planning Commission: 
1. Any use charged with the principal function of basic research, design and pilot or experimental 

product development when conducted within a completely enclosed building. 
 
2. Any of the following uses when the manufacturing, compounding, or processing is conducted 

wholly within a completely enclosed building. That portion of the land used for open storage 
facilities for materials or equipment used in the manufacturing, compounding, or processing shall 
be totally obscured by a wall on those sides abutting any residential or commercial zoning district, 
and on any front yard abutting a public thoroughfare, except as otherwise provided in Section 
1712. In the I-1 District, the extent of such a wall may be determined by the Planning Commission 
on the basis of usage. Such a wall shall not be less than five feet in height and may, depending 
upon land usage, be required to be eight (8) feet in height, and shall be subject to the 
requirements of Article XVII. General Provisions, Section 1713. A chain link fence, with intense 
evergreen shrub planting, shall be considered an obscuring wall. The height shall be determined 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 74 of 86



in the same manner as determined above (see subsection 20.e. for additional screening 
requirements): 

 a. Warehousing and wholesale establishments and trucking facilities. 
b. The manufacture, compounding, processing, packaging or treatment of such products as, 

but not limited to, bakery goods, candy, cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, toiletries, food 
products, hardware and cutlery, tool, die, gauge and machine shops. 

c. The manufacture, compounding, assembling or treatment of articles or merchandise from 
previously prepared materials:  bone, canvas, cellophane, cloth, cork, elastomers, 
feathers, felt, fiber, fur, glass, hair, horn, leather, paper, plastics, rubber, precious or 
semiprecious metals or stones, sheet metal, shell, textiles, tobacco, wax, wire, wood and 
yarns. 

d. The manufacture of pottery and figurines or other similar ceramic products using only 
previously pulverized clay, and kilns fired only by electricity or gas. 

e. The manufacture of musical instruments, toys, novelties, and metal or rubber stamps, or 
other molded rubber products. 

f. The manufacture or assembly of electrical appliances, electronic instruments and 
devices, radios and phonographs. 

 g. Laboratories - experimental, film or testing. 
h. The manufacturing and repair of electric or neon signs, light sheet metal products, 

including heating and ventilating equipment, cornices, eaves and the like. 
i. Central dry cleaning plants or laundries, provided that such plants shall not deal directly 

with consumer at retail. 
j. All public utilities, including buildings, necessary structures, storage yards, and other 

related uses. 
 
3. Warehouse, storage and transfer, and electric and gas service buildings and yards, public utility 

buildings, telephone exchange buildings, electrical transformer stations and substations, gas 
regulator stations, water supply and sewage disposal plants, water and gas tank holders, railroad 
transfer and storage tracks, railroad rights-of-way, and freight terminals. 

 
4. Storage facilities for building materials, sand, gravel, stone, lumber, and contractor's equipment 

and supplies, provided such is enclosed within a building or within an obscuring wall or fence on 
those sides abutting all residential or business districts, and on any yard abutting a public 
thoroughfare.  In any I-1 District, the extent of such fence or wall may be determined by the 
Planning Commission on the basis of usage.  Such fence or wall shall not be less than five (5) 
feet in height, and may, depending on land usage, be required to be eight (8) feet in height.  A 
chain link type fence, with dense evergreen shrubbery inside of said fence, shall be considered to 
be an obscuring fence. See also Sections 1709, 1713 and 1714. 

 
5. Auto engine, paint and body repair, and undercoating shops when completely enclosed. 
 
6. Automatic teller machines when inside another building and accessory to another use. 
 
7. Commercial kennels. 
 
8. Electrical supplies, plumbing and heating shops suppliers 
9. Factory and mill supplies. 
 
10.  Farms. 
 
11. Greenhouses. 
 
12. Incubator: Mix of uses including any in the B-2 District and this District by special land use permit, 

provided there are at least six (6) individual tenants. No new review and approval is required for a 
change of land use within an approved incubator, if within the same building and/or on the same 
site. 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 75 of 86



 
13. Municipal facility and municipal vehicle maintenance garage. 
 
14. Office buildings 
 
15. Parking lots 
 
16. Printing plants. 
 
17. Radio and television towers, public utility microwaves and public utility TV transmitting towers, 

and their attendant facilities by special use permit, provided said use shall be located centrally on 
a continuous parcel of not less than one and one-half (1-1/2) times the height of the tower 
measured from the base of said tower to all points on each property line. 

 
18. Stadium, sports arena. 
 
19. Trade or industrial schools. 
 
20. Other similar light industrial uses when authorized by the Planning Commission as a special land 

use. In considering any site plan to establish a use in this district, the Planning Commission shall 
ensure conformance with the following standards and for special land uses, those of Article XV: 
a. Ingress and egress to the lot and the proposed buildings and structures thereon, with 

particular reference to automotive, truck, and pedestrian access shall be safe and 
convenient. Traffic flow and control, and access in case of fire or catastrophe shall also 
be safe and convenient. 

b. Off-street parking and loading areas where required, shall be located with particular 
attention to the items in subparagraph (a) above, and the economic, noise, glare, odor or 
other nuisance effects of the use on adjoining properties and the surrounding 
neighborhood. The minimum setback of any parking area, including drives within said 
parking area, from the front or rear property line or right-of-way shall be at least twenty 
(20) feet. The minimum setback of any parking area, including drives within said parking 
area, from the side property line or right-of-way shall be at least five (5) feet. If the lot is a 
corner lot, then the minimum setback from a right-of-way shall be twenty (20) feet. All 
setback areas required by this paragraph must be landscaped. 

c. Refuse and service areas shall be located with particular reference to the items in 
subparagraphs (a) and (b) above. 

d. Utilities shall be located in safe and convenient locations and buried below ground 
wherever feasible. 

e. Screening and buffering, with reference to type, dimensions, and character shall conform 
to the requirements of Sections 1709, 1713 and 1714 of this Ordinance. Side yards and 
rear yards adjoining any residential zoning district shall be screened by one of the 
following with the selection of the option by the Planning Commission: 1) by a compact 
hedge of deciduous or evergreen trees which reach a minimum of five (5) feet in height 
and five (5) feet in width after one growing season, or 2) a solid wall or tight board fence 
or a privacy fence (which allows air to flow through) six (6) feet in height, or 3) if the 
provisions in Section 1709, 1713 or 1714 are more restrictive in an individual case, then 
the provisions of whichever section the Planning Commission believes will best protect 
abutting properties. 

f. Signs, if any, and proposed exterior lighting shall be located to reduce glare, ensure 
traffic safety, preserve economic viability, and achieve compatibility and harmony with 
adjoining and surrounding neighborhood properties. 

g. Required yards and other open spaces shall conform to the requirements of Section 
1102. 

h. There shall be general compatibility with adjacent properties and the surrounding 
neighborhood. 

 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 76 of 86



21. Accessory buildings and structures customarily incidental to the above uses. 
 

22. Adult Entertainment Facilities when authorized by the Planning Commission as a 
special use in accordance with Section 1510.01. 

 
SECTION 1102.  AREA REGULATIONS 
 
No building or structure, nor any enlargement thereof, shall be hereafter erected except in conformance 
with the following yard, lot area, and building coverage requirements:   
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than forty (40) feet.  Off-street parking for 

visitors, over and above the number of spaces required under Article XVIII, may be permitted 
within the required front yard, provided that such off-street parking is not located within twenty 
(20) feet of the front lot line. 

 
2. Side Yard - There shall be total side yards of forty (40) feet, provided that no yard shall be less 

than twenty (20) feet.  In no event shall a building be located closer than seventy-five (75) feet to 
a residential district.  Off-street parking shall be permitted in the required side yard setback if 
adequately screened from an adjacent residential district as determined by the Planning 
Commission.   

 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than fifty (50) feet.   
 
4. Lot Area and Width - No minimum required. 
 
5. Site Plan - A Site Plan is required for all structures, additions and parking areas. 
 
6. Landscaping - Within the industrially zoned areas, landscaping requirements must adhere to 

Article XVII, Section 1709.  (Amended 12/14/89; Ord. No. 728) 
 
SECTION 1103.  HEIGHT REGULATION 
 
No building or structure shall exceed forty (40) feet in height. 
 
SECTION 1104.  PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 
 
Before the issuance of any building permit in this Zone, the applicant shall sign an agreement with the 
City Manager that the use of the property will meet the following Performance Standards, that no 
nuisance will be created, and that any violation of these standards in subsequent operations will be 
corrected in an expeditious manner: 
 
1. Fire and Explosion Hazards - All buildings, storage and handling of flammable materials, and 

other activities shall conform to County and City building and fire ordinances and to any 
applicable State and Federal regulations or requirements.  No use of building shall in any way 
represent a fire or explosion hazard to a use on adjacent property or to the public on a public 
street. 

 
2. Smoke, Fumes, Gases, Dust, and Odors - There shall be no emission of any smoke, radiation, 

fumes, gases, dust, odors, or any other atmospheric pollutant which will disseminate beyond the 
boundaries of the lot occupied by such use in such a manner as to cause property damage or 
hazards to public health or to be detrimental to the property rights of other property or to be 
obnoxious to the general public. 

 
3. Liquid or Solid Waste - No industrial operations shall directly discharge industrial waste of any 

kind into any river, stream, reservoir, pond or lake.  All methods of sewage disposal and industrial 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 77 of 86



waste treatment and disposal shall be approved by the City and by the County and Michigan 
State Health Departments. 

 
4. Vibration - There shall be no vibration which is discernible to the human sense of feeling beyond 

the boundaries of the lot on which such use is conducted. 
 
5. Noise - There shall be no noise emanating from the operation which will adversely affect an 

adjoining permitted use. 
 
6. Glare - There shall be no direct or sky-reflected glare harmful to the human eye at the property 

line of the lot occupied by such use. 
 
7. Industrial Park Covenants - That any industrial park covenants applicable to the property will be 

conformed with.  
 
SECTION 1105.  Reserved for Future Use. 
 
SECTION 1106.  INTENT OF THE I-2 DISTRICT   
 
General Industrial Districts are designed primarily for manufacturing, assembling and fabrication activities, 
including large scale or specialized industrial operations whose external physical effects will be felt to 
some degree by surrounding districts.  The I-2 District is so structured as to permit the manufacturing, 
processing, and compounding of semifinished or finished products from raw materials as well as from 
previously prepared material. 
 
SECTION 1107.  USE REGULATIONS 
 
Land, buildings, or structures in this zoning district may be used for the following purposes only, subject to 
review and approval of a site plan by the Planning Commission: 
1. Any principal use permitted in an I-1 District subject to the same conditions.   
 
2. Heating and power generating plants.   
 
3. Any of the following production or manufacturing uses (not including storage of finished products), 

provided that they are located not less than two hundred (200) feet distant from any residential 
district and not less than two hundred (200) feet distant from any other district and further subject 
to the regulations contained below in Section  1108, Special Conditions : 
a.  Junk yards, auto salvage and parts reconditioning provided such are entirely enclosed 

within a building. 
b. Incineration of garbage or refuse when conducted within an approved and enclosed 

incinerator plant. 
 c. Blast furnace, steel furnace, blooming or rolling mill. 

d. Manufacture of corrosive acid or alkali, cement, lime, gypsum or plaster of Paris. 
 e. Petroleum or other inflammable liquids, production, refining or storage. 
 f. Smelting of aluminum, copper, iron or zinc. 
 g. Ferrous and nonferrous foundries. 
 h. Stamping plants. 
 
4. Any other use which shall be determined by the City of South Haven, after recommendation from 

the Planning Commission, to be of the same general character as the above permitted uses in 
Section 1107.  The City of South Haven may impose reasonable setback and/or Performance 
Standards so as to insure public health, safety and general welfare. 

 
5. Radio and television towers, public utility microwaves and public utility T.V. transmitting towers, 

and their attendant facilities, provided said use shall be located centrally on a continuous parcel 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 78 of 86



of not less than one and one-half (1-1/2) times the height of the tower measured from the base of 
said tower to all points on each property line. 

 
6. Accessory buildings and structures customarily incidental to the above uses. 
 
7. Adult Entertainment Facilities when authorized by the Planning Commission as a special 

use in accordance with Section 1510.01. 
 

 
SECTION 1108.  SPECIAL CONDITIONS 
 
1. Any production or manufacturing use permitted in Section  1107 (3) that was in operation or 

under construction prior to the adoption of this Ordinance is exempt from the locational 
requirements as stated in the same section and paragraph. 

 
2. Should the existing uses or structure be removed or destroyed by any means, buildings may be 

rebuilt along the same building line.  Uses may be changed within the same building lines subject 
to uses permitted in Section 1107.   
 

3. Side yards and rear yards adjoining any residential zoning district shall be screened by one of the 
following with the selection of the option by the Planning Commission: 1) by a compact hedge of 
deciduous or evergreen trees which reach a minimum of five (5) feet in height and five (5) feet in 
width after one growing season, or 2) a solid wall or tight board fence or a privacy fence (which 
allows air to flow through) six (6) feet in height, or 3) if the provisions in Section 1709, 1713 or 
1714 are more restrictive in an individual case, then the provisions of whichever section the 
Planning Commission believes will best protect abutting properties. 

 
4. The minimum setback of any parking area, including drives within said parking area, from the 

front or rear property line or right-of-way shall be at least twenty (20) feet. The minimum setback 
of any parking area, including drives within said parking area, from the side property line or right-
of-way shall be at least five (5) feet. If the lot is a corner lot, then the minimum setback from a 
right-of-way shall be twenty (20) feet. All setback areas required by this paragraph must be 
landscaped. 
 

SECTION 1109.  AREA REGULATIONS   
 
No building or structure, nor any enlargement thereof, shall be hereafter erected except in conformance 
with the following yard, lot area,  and building coverage requirements:   
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than sixty (60) feet.  Off-street parking for 

visitors, over and above the number of spaces required under Article XVIII may be permitted 
within the required front yard, provided that off-street parking is not located within twenty (20)  
feet of the front lot line. 

 
2. Side Yard - There shall be total side yards of sixty (60) feet, provided that no yard shall be less 

than thirty (30) feet.  In no event shall a building be located closer than seventy-five (75) feet to a 
residential district.  Off-street parking shall be permitted in the required side yard setback if 
adequately screened from an adjacent residential district as determined by the Planning 
Commission.   

 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than fifty (50) feet. 
 
4. Lot Area and Width - No minimum required.   
 
5. Site Plan - A Site Plan is required for all structures, additions and parking areas.   
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 79 of 86



6. Landscaping - Within the industrially zoned areas, landscaping requirements must adhere to 
Article XVII, Section 1709.  (Amended 12/14/89; Ord. No. 728) 

 
SECTION 1110.  HEIGHT REGULATIONS   
 
No building or structure shall exceed sixty (60) feet in height. 
 
SECTION 1111.  PERFORMANCE STANDARDS   
 
Before the issuance of any building permit in this Zone, the applicant shall sign an agreement with the 
City Manager that the use of the property will meet the following Performance Standards and that any 
violation of these standards in subsequent operations will be corrected expeditiously:   
1. Fire and Explosion Hazards - All buildings, storage and handling of the flammable materials, 

and other activities shall conform to County and City building and fire ordinances and to any 
applicable State and Federal regulations and requirements.  No use of building shall in any way 
represent a fire or explosion hazard to a use on adjacent property or to the public on a public 
street. 

 
2. Smoke, Fumes, Gases, Dust, and Odors - There shall be no emission of any smoke,  radiation, 

fumes, gases, dust, odors, or any other atmospheric pollutant which will disseminate beyond the 
boundaries of the lot occupied by such use in such a manner as to cause property damage or 
hazards to public heath or to be detrimental to the property rights of other property or to be 
obnoxious to the general public. 

 
3. Liquid or Solid Waste - No industrial operations shall directly discharge industrial waste of any 

kind into any river, stream, reservoir, pond or lake.  All methods of sewage disposal and industrial 
waste treatment and disposal shall be approved by the City and by the County  and Michigan 
State Departments.   

 
4. Vibration - There shall be no vibration which is discernible to the human sense of feeling beyond 

the boundaries of the lot on which such use is conducted. 
 
5. Noise - There shall be no noise emanating from the operation which will adversely affect an 

adjoining permitted use. 
 
6. Glare - There shall be no direct or sky-reflected glare harmful to the human eye at the property 

line of the lot occupied by such use. 
 
7. Industrial Park Covenants - That any industrial park covenants applicable to the property will be 

conformed with. 
 
SECTION 1112.  Reserved for Future Use. 
 
SECTION 1113.  INTENT OF THE I-1B INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 
 
The I-1B Industrial District is designed so as to primarily accommodate wholesale activities, warehouses 
and industrial operations whose external, physical effects are restricted to the area of the district and in 
no manner affect, in a detrimental way, any of the surrounding districts.  The I-1B District is so structured 
as to permit, along with any specified uses, the manufacturing, compounding, processing, packaging, 
assembly and/or treatment of finished or semifinished products from previously prepared material. 
 
The general goals of this use district include, among others, the following specific purposes:   
1. To provide sufficient space, in appropriate locations, to meet the needs of the municipality's 

expected future economy for many types of manufacturing and related uses. 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 80 of 86



2. To protect abutting residential districts by separating them from manufacturing activities and by 
prohibiting the use of such industrial areas for new residential development. 

 
3. To promote manufacturing development which is free from danger of fire, explosions, toxic and 

noxious matter, radiation and other hazards, and from offensive noise, vibration, smoke, odor and 
other nuisances. 

 
4. To protect the most desirable use of land in accordance with a well considered plan. 
 
5. To protect the character and established pattern of adjacent development and, in each area, to 

conserve the value of land and buildings and other structures. 
 
6. To protect the municipality's tax revenue. 
 
SECTION 1114.  USE REGULATIONS 
 
Land, buildings or structures in this zoning district may be used for the following purposes only, subject to 
the review and approval of a site plan by the Planning Commission: 
 
1. Any use permitted in the I-1 Light Industrial District. 
 
2. Nonferrous smelting and casting. 
 
SECTION 1115.  AREA REGULATIONS 
 
No building or structure, nor any enlargement thereof, shall be hereafter erected except in conformance 
with the following yard, lot area, and building coverage requirements:   
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than forty (40) feet.  Off-street parking for 

visitors, over and above the number of spaces required under Article XVIII, may be permitted 
within the required front yard, provided that such off-street parking is not located within twenty 
(20) feet of the front lot line. 

 
2. Side Yard - There shall be total side yards of forty (40) feet, provided that no yard shall be less 

than twenty (20) feet.  In no event shall a building be located closer than seventy-five (75) feet to 
a residential district.  Off-street parking shall be permitted in the required side yard setback if 
adequately screened from an adjacent residential district as determined by the Planning 
Commission.   

 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than fifty (50) feet.   
 
4. Lot Area and Width - No minimum required. 
 
5. Site Plan - A Site Plan is required for all structures, additions and parking areas. 
 
6. Landscaping - Within the industrially zoned areas, landscaping requirements must adhere to 

Article XVII, Section 1709.  (Amended 12/14/89; Ord. No. 728) 
 
SECTION 1116.  HEIGHT REGULATION 
 
No building or structure shall exceed forty (40) feet in height. 
 
SECTION 1117.  PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 
 
Before the issuance of any building permit in this Zone, the applicant shall sign an agreement with the 
City Manager that the use of the property will meet the following Performance Standards, that no 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 81 of 86



nuisance will be created, and that any violation of these standards in subsequent operations will be 
corrected in an expeditious manner: 
 
1. Fire and Explosion Hazards - All buildings, storage and handling of flammable materials, and 

other activities shall conform to County and City building and fire ordinances and to any 
applicable State and Federal regulations or requirements.  No use of building shall in any way 
represent a fire or explosion hazard to a use on adjacent property or to the public on a public 
street. 

 
2. Smoke, Fumes, Gases, Dust, and Odors - There shall be no emission of any smoke, radiation, 

fumes, gases, dust, odors, or any other atmospheric pollutant which will disseminate beyond the 
boundaries of the lot occupied by such use in such a manner as to cause property damage or 
hazards to public health or to be detrimental to the property rights of other property or to be 
obnoxious to the general public. 

 
3. Liquid or Solid Waste - No industrial operations shall directly discharge industrial waste of any 

kind into any river, stream, reservoir, pond or lake.  All methods of sewage disposal and industrial 
waste treatment and disposal shall be approved by the City and by the County and Michigan 
State Health Departments. 

 
4. Vibration - There shall be no vibration which is discernible to the human sense of feeling beyond 

the boundaries of the lot on which such use is conducted. 
 
5. Noise - There shall be no noise emanating from the operation which will adversely affect an 

adjoining permitted use. 
 
6. Glare - There shall be no direct or sky-reflected glare harmful to the human eye at the property 

line of the lot occupied by such use. 
 
7. Industrial Park Covenants - That any industrial park covenants applicable to the property will be 

conformed with.  

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 82 of 86



ARTICLE XII 
PB-1 PROFESSIONAL BUSINESS DISTRICT 

 
 

SECTION 1200.  INTENT 
 
The purpose of this district is to accommodate office uses, office sales uses, and business services.  The 
district is intended as a transition area between residential areas and more intensive business 
development and is intended principally for daytime business activities that are compatible with adjacent 
residential districts in the City. 
 
SECTION 120l.  USE REGULATIONS 
 
Land, buildings or structures in this zoning district may be used for the following purposes only, subject to 
the review and approval of a site plan by the Planning Commission. 
 
1 Professional offices for the practice of medicine, dentistry, law, engineering and architectural 

design, accounting, advertising, brokerage and other related professional services. 
 
2. Publicly owned office and meeting buildings, and public utility offices, but not including storage 

yards, substations or regulator stations. 
 
3. Financial, real estate and management offices, including banks, credit unions, savings and loan 

institutions, real estate offices, abstract and title offices, business consulting and management 
offices and similar office functions, but not including drive-in facilities for such uses. 

 
4. Single family dwellings meeting the requirements of the R-1 Single-Family Residential District. 
 
5. Pharmacies and medical supply stores offering retail sales. 
 
SECTION 1202.  REQUIRED CONDITIONS 
 
1. Side yards and rear yards adjoining any residential zoning district shall be screened by one of the 

following with the selection of the option by the Planning Commission after consulting with the 
neighbors: 1) by a compact hedge of deciduous or evergreen trees which reach a minimum of 
five (5) feet in height and five (5) feet in width after one growing season, or 2) a solid wall or tight 
board fence or a privacy fence (which allows air to flow through) six (6) feet in height, or 3) if the 
provisions in Section 1709, 1713 or 1714 are more restrictive in an individual case, then the 
provisions of whichever section the Planning Commission believes will best protect abutting 
properties. 

 
2. The minimum setback of any parking area, including drives within said parking area, from any 

property line or right-of-way shall be at least five (5) feet. All setback areas required by this 
paragraph shall be landscaped. 

 
3. There shall be no outdoor display or sale of goods. 
 
SECTION 1203.  AREA REGULATIONS 
 
No building or structure, nor the enlargement of any building or structure, shall be hereafter erected 
unless the following yards, lot area, and building coverage requirements are provided and maintained in 
connection with such building, structure or enlargement. 
 
1. Front Yard - There shall be a front yard of no less than twenty-five (25) feet. 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 83 of 86



2. Side Yard - There shall be a side yard of no less than ten (10) feet in width. 
 
3. Rear Yard - There shall be a rear yard of no less than twenty (20) feet. 
 
4. Lot Area and Width - No minimum required. 
 
5. Site Plan - A Site Plan is required for all structures, additions and parking areas. 
 
Section 1204.  HEIGHT REGULATIONS: 
 
No building shall exceed thirty-five (35) feet and two and one half (2-1/2) stories in height. 
 
 
. 
 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 84 of 86



SUMMARY OF PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENTS 
 
 
ARTICLE II - DEFINITIONS 
New definitions: 
 
Most of the following are definitions for terms already used in the ordinance 
Access* 
Amusement Enterprise 
Building footprint 
Buildable area 
Drive Through  
Easement* 
Group Day care facility (Large) 
Building height (clarification of average grade) 
Lot of Record (clarification only) 
Nonconforming Lot (clarification only) 
Open Air business 
Personal Service business 
Planned Shopping center 
Professional Service business 
Public facilities 
Recreation Uses 
Retail businesses 
 
New building height definitions pertaining to mansard and flat roof allowable height 
 
*Amendments resulting from ZBA interpretation 
 
ARTICLE IV –SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL  
 
Added is a lot width and depth requirement for flag lots 
 
Height is changed from 40 feet at the peak to 35 feet. Currently there are 2 measurement points 
(midway between eave and peak and at the peak). A survey of west Michigan communities 
showed the height maximum ranges from 28 to 35 feet. No community was found to have a 40 
foot residential maximum. 
 
ARTICLE VI – CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT (CBD) 
 
Use list is streamlined to add defined, more general terms such as Professional Service 
Businesses and Indoor Recreation Centers allowing a small amount of flexibility as new uses 
arise. For example, convenience stores, bakery and antique shops are all retail stores under the 
proposed definition.  
 
ARTICLE VII – NEIGHBORHOOD BUSINESS (B-1) 
 
The intent statement in this section specifically states that businesses in this zone are intended 
to be on a neighborhood scale. New commercial building size limits now reflect that. 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 85 of 86



As with the CBD article the use list for B-1 has been shortened by combining uses into groups 
such as retail (bakeries, book stores, candy stores, clothing stores, etc.) and professional 
business (doctors, attorneys, dentist and other types of offices). Also permitted are small 
personal service businesses such as barber shops, nail salons, tailors and drycleaners. 
 
Some of the business which remain as a separate category include home occupations, ATMs, 
recreation centers, convenience stores not larger than 3000 square feet and dwellings above 
permitted commercial uses. 
 
ARTICLE VIII – GENERAL BUSINESS (B-2) 
 
Several permitted and special uses have again have been consolidated into groups, this time 
allowing slightly larger businesses than in the B-1 zone. Personal service businesses and retail 
businesses up to 5000 square feet are allowed. 
 
 
ARTICLE IX – WATERFRONT BUSINESS (B-3) 
 
There were only a few consolidated uses in this zone due to the limited number of uses 
permitted. 
 
ARTICLE X – MAJOR THOROUGHFARE BUSINESS (B-4) 
 
The only significant change to this district is the deletion of Adult Entertainment Businesses. 
Those uses are now proposed for only the industrial zones. Allowing these uses in the B-4 zone 
would open the door to adult businesses in the outlots around Meijer and Walmart as well as in 
Phoenix Square. 
 
ARTICLE XI – LIGHT INDUSTRIAL (I-1), INDUSTRIAL (I-2) 
 
Adult Entertainment Facilities have been added to the permitted use lists in these zones. 
 
ARTICLE XII – PROFESSIONAL BUSINESS (PB-1) 
 
Since this zone is home to some medical and dental offices, pharmacies and medical supply 
stores have been added to the zone use list. 
 

 
November 5, 2015 
Planning Commission Agenda 
Page 86 of 86


	Agenda pg
	10-01-2015 PC Minutes - draft
	#6. Woodham's Ford Site Plan Review
	Application
	Site Plan Review Narrative
	Woodhams Ford Concept Drawings 10-06-2015
	Woodhams Site Plan Review Set
	Zoning review

	#7. Proposed Amendments
	ARTICLE II IV VI VII VIII IX X XI XII
	SECTION 403.  R-1B AREA REQUIREMENTS
	ARTICLE IX
	SECTION  904.  HEIGHT REGULATIONS

	AND

	SUMMARY OF PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENTS




